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PART | — FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Item 1. Financial Statements

JANUS HENDERSON GROUP PLC

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS (UNAUDITED)

(U.S. Dollars in Millions, Except Share Data)

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Investment securities
Fees and other receivables
OEIC and unit trust receivables
Assets of consolidated VIEs:
Cash and cash equivalents
Investment securities
Other currenassets
Other current assets
Total current assets
Non-current assets:
Property, equipment and software, net
Intangible assets, net
Goodwill
Retirement benefit asset, net
Other norcurrent assets
Total assets

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and accruéabilities
Current portion of accrued compensation, benefits and staff costs
OEIC and unit trust payables
Liabilities of consolidated VIEs:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Total current liabilities

Non-current liabilities:
Accrued compensation, benefits and staff costs
Longterm debt
Deferred tax liabilities, net
Retirement benefit obligations, net
Other norcurrent liabilities
Total liabilities

Commitments and contingencies (See Note 15)
REDEEMABLE NONCONTROLLING INTERESTS

EQUITY

Common stock%1.50par,480,000,00Ghares authorized ai®1,647,272and196,412,764haresssuedand

outstandingrespectively)

Additional paidin-capital

Treasury share8,787,063and4,523,80%hares held, respectively)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss, net of tax

Retained earnings

Total shareholders’ equity
Nonredeemablaoncontrolling interests
Total equity

Total liabilities, redeemable noncontrolling interests and equity

June 30, December 31,
2019 2018
$ 707.0 880.4
246.8 291.8
285.8 309.2
171.4 144.4
24.0 36.2
311.1 282.7
4.9 5.0
108.8 69.4
1,859.8 2,019.1
72.6 69.5
3,089.7 3,123.3
1,477.4 1,478.0
209.6 206.5
151.0 155
$ 6,860.1 6,911.9
$ 248.4 233.2
203.8 345.4
178.4 143.3
4.8 6.5
635.4 728.4
43.1 54.7
317.7 319.1
727.6 729.9
3.6 3.7
158.6 79.2
1,886.0 1,915.0
153.6 136.1
287.5 294.6
3,801.6 3,824.5
(147.8 (170.8
(424.0 (4235
1,280.8 1,314.5
4,798.1 4,839.3
22.4 215
4,820.5 4,860.8
$ 6,860.1 6,911.9

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consfiidatadl statements



JANUS HENDERSON GROUP PLC

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (UNAUDITED)
(U.S. Dollars in Millions, Except per Share Data)

Three months ended

Six months ended

June 30, June 30,
2019 2018 2019 2018
Revenue:
Management fees $ 4464 $ 4935 $ 8883 $ 9964
Performance fees 35 135 (2.1 9.6
Shareowner servicing fees 38.3 38.7 74.2 77.1
Other revenue 47.7 46.7 94.8 97.0
Total revenue 535.9 592.4 1,055.2 1,180.1
Operating expenses:
Employee compensation and benefits 146.5 151.0 2915 297.7
Longterm incentive plans 49.2 55.2 97.6 95.2
Distributionexpenses 101.5 114.7 203.4 232.0
Investment administration 11.1 11.7 22.9 23.1
Marketing 8.1 9.5 15.6 18.0
General, administrative and occupancy 67.7 59.2 132.9 131.4
Depreciation and amortization 33.3 15.8 48.3 31.2
Total operating expenses 417.4 417.1 812.2 828.6
Operating income 1185 175.3 243.0 3515
Interest expense 4.2 (3.9 (8.3 (7.7
Investment gains (losses), net 4.8 (16.6 18.1 17.3
Other noroperating income, net 28.5 13.9 24.6 52.8
Income before taxes 147.6 168.7 2774 379.3
Income tax provision (35.3 (38.2 (65.2] (85.6
Net income 112.3 130.5 212.2 293.7
Net loss (income) attributable to noncontrolling interests (2.9 10.1 (8.7 12.1
Net income attributable to JHG $ 1094 $ 1406 $ 2035 $ 3058
Earnings per share attributable to JHG common shareholders:
Basic $ 056 $ 0.70 $ 1.04 $ 1.52
Diluted $ 056 $ 070 $ 1.03 $ 151
Other comprehensive income, net of tax:
Foreign currency translation gains $ (373 $ (1047 $ 05 $ (52.0
Other comprehensive loss attributable to noncontrolling interests 0.1 0.6 — 0.8
Other comprehensive loss attributable to JHG $ (372 $ (1041 $ 05 $ (51.2
Total comprehensive income $ 750 $ 258 $ 2117 $ 241.7
Total comprehensive loss (income) attributable to noncontrolling interes (2.8 10.7 8.7, 12.9
Total comprehensive income attributable to JHG $ 722 $ 365 $ 203.0 $ 2546

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements



JANUS HENDERSON GROUPPLC

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (UNAUDITED)
(U.S. Dollars in Millions)

CASH FLOWS PROVIDED BY (USED FOR):
Operating activities:
Net income

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization
Impairment of intangible asset
Deferred income taxes
Stockbased compensation plan expense
Impairment of ROU operating asset
Investment (gains) losses, net
Contingent consideration fair value adjustment
Contributions to pension plans in excess of costs recognized
Gain from BNP Paribas transaction
Dai-ichi option fair value adjustments
Other, net
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
OEIC and unit trust receivables and payables
Otherassets
Other accruals and liabilities
Net operating activities
Investing activities:
Proceeds from (purchase of):
Investment securities, net
Property, equipment arsbftware
Investment securities by consolidated seeded investment products, net
Proceeds from BNP Paribas transaction, net
Cash received (paid) on settled hedges, net
Dividendsreceived from equitynethod investments
Proceeds from sale of Volantis
Net investing activities
Financing activities:
Proceeds from stoeBased compensation plans
Purchase of common stock fetockbased compensation plans
Purchase of common stock for share buyback program
Dividends paid to shareholders
Repayment of longerm debt
Payment of contingent consideration
Distributions to noncontrolling interests
Third-party sales in consolidated seeded investment products, net
Principal payments under capital lease obligations
Net financingactivities
Cash and cash equivalents:
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes
Net change
At beginning of period
At end of period
Supplemental cash flow information:
Cash paid for interest
Cash paid for income taxes, net of refunds
Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents:
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and caséquivalents held in consolidated VIEs
Total cash and cash equivalents

Six months ended

June 30,
2019 2018
212.2 293.7
30.3 31.2
18.0 —
(0.5) =
38.1 41.2
47 =
(18.1 17.3
(20.0! =
(3.4) (9.0
= (223
— (4.7
(9.0) 0.4
8.2 2.8
14.5 118.6
(192.0 (268.3
83.0 180.9
57.5 43.9
(14.8 (113
(22.2 (16.7
— 36.5
(10.7; 3.6
0.5 —
1.2 =
115 56.0
— 0.3
(38.1 (84.1
(106.1 —
(138.3 (134.7
— (81.9
@141 (18.8
(0.5) (3.4
22.2 16.7
(0.6) ©.7)
(2755 (306.6
(4.6) (20.7
(185.6 (90.4
916.6 794.2
731.0 703.8
7.3 7.4
114.7 104.9
707.0 669.8
24.0 34.0
731.0 703.8

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.



JANUS HENDERSON GROUP PLC

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (UNAUDITED)
(Amounts in Millions)

Six Months Ended June 30, 2019 Accumulated
Additional other Nonredeemable
Number of  Common paid-in Treasury comprehensive  Retained noncontrolling Total
shares stock capital shares loss earnings interests equity
Balance at January 1, 2019 1964 $ 2946 $ 38245 $ (1708 $ (4235 $ 13145 $ 215 $4,860.8
Net income — — — — — 203.5 14 204.9
Other comprehensive loss — — — — (0.5) — — (0.5
Dividends paid to shareholders — — 0.1 — — (138.4 — (138.3
Share buyback program (4.8, (7.1) — — — (99.0 — (106.1
Distributions to noncontrolling interests — — — — — — (0.5 (0.5
Fair value adjustments to redeemable
noncontrolling interests — — — — — 0.2 — 0.2
Purchase of common stock for stea&sed
compensation plans — — (33.2 (4.9 — — — (38.1
Vesting of stockbased compensatigrians — — (27.9 27.9 — — — —
Stockbased compensation plan expense — — 38.1 — — — — 38.1
Balance at June 30, 2019 1916 $ 2875 $ 38016 $ (1478 $ (424.0 $ 1,280.8 $ 224 $4,820.5
Six Months Ended June 30, 2018 Accumulated
Additional other Nonredeemable
Number of ~ Common paid-in Treasury  comprehensive  Retained  noncontrolling Total
shares stock capital shares loss earnings interests equity
Balance at January 1, 2018 2004 $ 300.6 $ 3,8429 $ (1558 $ (304.3 $1,1541 $ 38.2 $4,875.7
Net income — — — — — 305.8 (6.8 299.0
Other comprehensive loss — — — — (51.2; — — (51.2,
Dividends paid to shareholders — — 0.1 — — (134.8 — (134.7
Distributions to noncontrolling interests — — — — — — 3.1 3.1
Fair value adjustments to redeemable
noncontrolling interests — — — — — 0.2} — 0.2)
Redemptions of convertible debt — — (34.0 — — — — (34.0,
Purchase of common stock for stea&sed
compensation plans — — (37.5 (46.6 — — — (84.1
Vesting of stockbased compensatigrians — — (29.5, 29.5 — — — —
Stockbased compensation plan expense — — 41.2 — — — — 41.2
Proceeds from stoekased compensation
plans — — 0.3 — — — — 0.3
Balance at June 30, 2018 2004 $ 3006 $ 3,785 $ (1729 $ (355.5, $1,3249 $ 28.3 $4,908.9

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.



JANUS HENDERSON GROUP PLC
NOTES TO THE CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)
Note 1 — Basis of Presentation and Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Presentation

I n the opinion of management of Janus Henderson Group p
condensed consolidated financsgtements contain all normal recurring adjustments necessary to fairly state the

financial position, results of operations and cash flows of JHG in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United St antisdatemdnts hamecbeen prepardd in@dsdkdaricé with Su ¢ h
the instructionsto Form3#Q pur suant to the rules and regul ations of t
Certain information and footnote disclosures normally included in financiahsate prepared in accordance with

GAAP have been condensed or omitted pursuant to such rules and regulations. These financial statements should be read
in conjunction with the annual consolidatedortfonFoanci al s
10-K for the year ended Decembgt, 2018.The December 31, 2018ondensed balance sheet data was derived from

audited financial statements, but does not include all disclosures required by GE¥eki®s subsequent to the balance

sheet date habeen evaluated for inclusion in the accompanying financial statements through the issuance date and are
included in the notes to the condensed consolidated financial statements.

Certain prior year amounts th H GCosdensed Consolidated Statements ah@@hensive Income have been

reclassified to conform to current year presentation. Specifically, revenue amounts related to certain transfer agent and
administrative activities performed for investment products that were previously classified in otheereese

reclassified to shareowner servicing fees. There is no change to consolidated total revenue, operating income, net income
or cash flows as a result of this change in classification.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements Adopted
Leases

In February2016 t he Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FAS
The new standard represents a significant change to lease accounting and introduces a lessee model that brings leases
onto the balance sheet. The stand#sd aligns certain underlying principles of the new lessor model with those in the
FASB's new revenue recognition standard. Furthermore, t
leases model. The standard became effective Januadi 4, 2

The Group adopted the new standard effective January 1, 2019, using the modified retrospective approach. Comparative
prior periods were not adjusted upon adoption, as the Group utilizpdetticalexpedients available under the

guidance. Specifichl, the Group did not (i) reassess existing contracts for embedded leases, (ii) reassess existing lease
agreements for finance or operating classification, or (iii) reassess existing lease agreements in consideration of initial
direct costs.

Upon adoptionthe Group recognizefl129.8million inrightof-u s e ( “ROU” ) assets related to
equipment. Corresponding lease liabilitieshé#6.4mi | 1 i on wer e al so recogni zed. The
represent the vast majority of ROU asstsand lease liabilities, with office spaces in Denver and London representing

a significant portion of its leased property.

The Group’s | eases policy foll ows. Refer to further dis
Leases Policy Updated January 1, 2019

The Group determines if an arrangement is a lease at inception. Operating lease ROU assets are included4n other non
current assets in the Group’s Conden s-eudentportiossmfiopecatng ed Ba
lease liabilities a included in accounts payable and accrued liabilitiesraather norcurrent liabilities, respectively.



Finance lease ROU assets are included in property, equipment and software, net, and finance lease liabilities are
included in other nowurrent liabiities.

ROU assets represent the Group’'s right to use an under|
Group’'s obligation to make | ease payments arising from
recognizeht commencement date based on the present value of
leases do not provide an implicit rate, the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate based on the information available

at commencement date in deteming the present value of lease payments. The operating lease ROU asset also includes
any |l ease payments made and excludes | ease incentives.
terminate the lease when it is reasonably certain thatgtien will be exercised. Lease expense for lease payments is
recognized on a straigline basis over the lease term.

Hedge Accounting

In August 2017, the FASB issued an updated standard that amended hedge accounting. The standard expanded the
strategie®ligible for hedge accounting, changed how companies assess hedge effectiveness and required new
disclosures and presentation. The Group adopted the standard effective January 1, 2019. The adoption did not have a
materi al i mpact oaperdtibngor ihanoial positen. r esul t s of

Recent Accounting Pronouncements Not Yet Adopted

Retirement Benefit Plans

I n August 2018, the FASB issued an accounting standards
employers that sponsor definbdnefit pension plans. The ASU removes, adds and clarifies a number of disclosure
requirements related to sponsored benefit plans. The standard is effective January 1, 2021, for calemthr year

companies, and early adoption is permitted. The Group laairgy the effect of adopting this new accounting standard.

Implementation Cos& Cloud Computing Arrangements

In August 2018, the FASB issued an ASU that aligns the requirements for capitalizing implementation costs incurred in
a hosting arrangemeniith the requirements for implementation costs incurred to develop or obtain irtsmal

software. The ASU is effective January 1, 2020, for calendargrehcompanies and for the interim periods within

those years. Early adoption is permitted. The A8tles either a retrospective or prospective approach to all
implementation costs incurred after adoption. The Group is evaluating the effect of adopting this new accounting
standard.

Note 2 — Consolidation
Variable Interest Entities
Consolidated Variablénterest Entities

JHG' s consolidated vari abl 80,2019tardeeesnbeBE 2018iintlude certah“ VI Es ” )
consolidated seeded investment products in which the Group has an investment and acts as the investment manager. The
assetof these VIEs are not available to JHG or the creditors of JHG. JHG may not, under any circumstances, access

cash and cash equivalents held by consolidated VIEs to use in its operating activities or otherwise. In addition, the
investors in these VIEs hawe recourse to the credit of the Group.

Unconsolidated Variable Interest Entities

At June30,2019 and Decembe31,2 0 1 8, J H GVakies ofanvestipeantrsecurities includedJoil GCaosdensed
Consolidated Balance Sheets pertaining to unconsoliddtesiwere$3.7million and$3.1mi | | i on, respecti v
total exposure to unconsolidated VIEs represents the value of its economic ownership interest in the investment

securities.



Voting Rights Entities

Consolidated Voting Rights Entities

Thefollowing t abl e presents the balances related to consolida
JHG's Condensed Consolidated Bal ance Sheet s, including
June 30, December 31,
2019 2018
Investment securities $ 93 $ 13.9
Cash and cash equivalents 0.1 1.4
Other current assets 0.2 0.1
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (0.1) (0.1
Total 9.5 15.3
Redeemable noncontrollingterests in consolidated VREs (4.3 (6.0}
JHG's net interest in consolidated VREs $ 52 % 9.3
JHG s tot al exposure to consolidated VREs represents th

investment products. JHG mawpt, under any circumstances, access cash and cash equivalents held by consolidated
VRES to use in its operating activities or for any other purpose.

Unconsolidated Voting Rights Entities

At June30,2019 and Decembe8l, 2018, H Gcaying values of investment securities included ad GCosidensed
Consolidated Balance Sheets pertaining to unconsolidated VRE$2&dmillion and$50.7million, respectively.

JHG" s total exposure to uncon ®wmhomida@vheestip iMdrestsn the mvestneeste nt s
securities.

Note 3 — Investment Securities
JHG’ s i nvest mehrie302@lq and Decembe?l, 2018, are Summarized as follows (in millions):

June 30, December 31,

2019 2018
Seeded investment products:
Consolidated VIEs $ 3111 $ 2827
Consolidated VREs 9.3 13.9
Unconsolidated VIEs and VRESs 32.1 53.8
Separate accounts 56.7 71.6
Pooled investment funds 10.6 25.5
Total seedethvestment products 419.8 447.5
Investments related to deferred compensation plans 132.6 120.3
Other investments 5.5 6.7
Total investment securities $ 5579 $ 5745




Trading Securities

Net unrealized gains (losses) on investment securities heldJagef0,2019 and 2018are summarized as follows (in
millions):

Three months ended Six months ended
June 30, June 30,
2019 2018 2019 2018

Unrealized gains (losses) on investment securities held at periodenc $ 4.6 $ (136 $ 157 $ (21.5

Derivative Instruments

JHG maintains an economic hedge program that uses derivative instruments to mitigate against dited/ol

certain seeded investments by using index and commodity
and credit default swaps. Foreign currency exposures as
hedged bywsing foreign currency forward contracts. The Group also has a net investment hedge related to foreign

currency translation on hedged seed investments denomin

JHG was party to the following dedtive instruments as dine30,2019 and Decembe31, 2018 (in millions):

Notional Value
June 30,2019  December 31, 2018

Futures $ 1035 $ 147.1
Credit default swaps 93.0 133.2
Total return swaps 75.8 77.2
Foreign currency forward contracts 163.6 131.8

The derivative instruments are not designated as hedges for accounting purposes, with the exception of certain foreign
currency forward contracts used for net investment hedging. Changes in fair value of the futures, index swaps, TRSs and

creditdefaultseaps are recognized in investment gains (|l osses),
Comprehensive Income. Changes in the fair value of the foreign currency forward contracts designated as hedges for
accounting purposes are recognized inothec o mpr ehensi ve i ncome, net of tax on

Statements of Comprehensive Income.

The value of the individual derivative contracts is recognized on a gross basis and included in other current assets or
accounts payable and accruedbiliies onJ H GCosidensed Consolidated Balance Shewtdis immaterial
individually and in aggregate.

The Group recognized the following net foreign currency translation gains and losses on hedged seed investments
denominated in currencies otherthanet Gr oup’ s functi onal currency and net g
currency forward contracts under net investment hedge accountitig fitree and six months ended J86e2019 and

2018(in millions):

Three months ended Six months ended

June 30, June 30,
2019 2018 2019 2018
Foreign currency translation $ (120 $ 33 $ (0.9 $ (3.8
Foreign currency forward contracts 1.2 3.3 0.9 3.8
Total $ — $ — $ — $ —
Derivative Instruments in Consolidated Seeded Investment Products
Certain of the Group’s consolidated seeded investment p

achievement of defined investment objectives. These derivative instruments are classified within other current assets or



accounts payableamdc cr ued | iabilities on JHG's Condensed Consol i
individually and in aggregate. Gains and losses on these derivative instruments are classified within investment gains
(l osses), net on JHG' sme@oohGbmprehenslve Baomes ol i dat ed St at

JHG' s consolidated seeded investment pr oduduneS0,209r e part
and DecembeBl, 2018 (in millions):

Notional Value
June 30, 2019 December 31, 2018

Futures $ 102.2 $ 267.8
Contracts for differences 104 8.7
Credit default swaps 2.4 6.2
Total return swaps 37.8 23.7
Interest rate swaps 26.2 61.5
Options 0.7 9.6
Swaptions — 8.3
Foreign currencyorward contracts 147.2 154.9

As of June30, 2019, certain consolidated seeded investment products sold credit protection through the use of credit
default swap contracts. The contracts provide alternative credit risk exposure to individual companies and countries
outside of traditionldbond markets. The terms of the credit default swap contracts rangefrietmfive years

As sellers in credit default swap contracts, the consolidated seeded investment products would be required to pay the
notional value of a referenced debt obligatio the counterparty in the event of a default on the debt obligation by the

issuer. The notional value represents the estimated maximum potential undiscounted amount of future payments required
upon the occurrence of a credit default event. As of 30n2019, andDecembe31, 2018 the notional values of the
agreements totalefR.3 million and$3.9million, respectively. The credit default swap contracts include recourse

provisions that allow for recovery of a certain percentage of amounts paid upmttimeence of a credit default event.

As of June30,2019, andDecembeB1, 2018 the fair value of the credit default swap contracts selling protectiomivas
and$0.1million, respectively.

Investment Gains (Losses), Net

Investment gains (losses), .en J HG' s Condensed Consolidated Statements
following for the three and six months ended J88g2019 and 2018&n millions):
Three months ended Six months ended
June 30, June 30,
2019 2018 2019 2018
Seeded investment products and derivatives, net $ 34 $(174 $ 116 $(18.2
Other 1.4 0.8 6.5 0.9
Investment gains (losses), net $ 48 $(16.6 $ 181 $(17.3




Cash Flows

Cash flows related to investment securitiestlier six months ended Ju@8, 2019 and 2018ire summarized as follows
(in millions):

Six months ended June 30,

2019 2018
Sales, Sales,
Purchases settlements Purchases settlements
and and and and
settlements maturities settlements maturities
Investment securities $ (2691 $ 2469 $ (309 % 58.1

Note 4 — Fair Value Measurements

The following table presents assets, liabilities and redeemable noncontrolling interests presented in the financial
statements or disclosed in the notes to the financial statements at fair value on a recurring basis a8,@019{m
millions):

Fair value measurements using:
Quoted prices in
active markets for

identical assets Significant other Significant
and liabilities observable inputs unobservable inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
Assets:
Cash equivalents $ 2705 $ — 3 — $2705
Investment securities:
Consolidated VIEs 132.9 162.4 15.8 3111
Other investment securities 185.3 61.5 — 246.8
Total investment securities 318.2 223.9 158 557.9
Seed hedge derivatives — 2.1 — 2.1
Volantiscontingent consideration — — 3.3 3.3
Total assets $ 588.7 $ 226.0 $ 19.1 $833.8
Liabilities:
Derivatives in consolidated seeded investment
products $ — 3 15 $ — $ 15
Seed hedgderivatives — 6.4 — 6.4
Longterm debf” — 324.3 — 3243
Deferred bonuses — — 60.7 60.7
Contingent consideration — — 31.8 31.8
Total liabilities $ — $ 3322 $ 925 $424.7
Redeemable noncontrolling interests:
Consolidated seeded investment products $ — $ — 8 138.8 $138.8
Intech — — 14.8 14.8
Total redeemable noncontrolling interests $ — $ — 8 153.6 $153.6

(1) Carried at amortized cost and disclosed at fair value.

10



The following table presents assets, liabilities and redeemablemooiting interests presented in the financial

statements or disclosed in the notes to the financial statements at fair value on a recurring basis as ofTle2éather

(in millions):
Fair value measurements using:
Quoted prices in
active markets for
identical assets Significant other Significant
and liabilities observable inputs unobservable inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
Assets:
Cash equivalents $ 3818 $ — % — $381.8
Investment securities:
Consolidated VIEs 103.8 159.7 19.2 2827
Otherinvestment securities 194.5 97.3 — 291.8
Total investment securities 298.3 257.0 19.2 5745
Seed hedge derivatives — 3.2 — 3.2
Derivatives in consolidated seeded investment
products — 0.9 — 0.9
Contingent consideration — — 3.9 3.9
Total assets $ 680.1 $ 2611 $ 23.1 $964.3
Liabilities:
Derivatives in consolidated seeded investment
products $ — % 21 % — $ 21
Financial liabilities in consolidated seeded investr
products 0.4 — — 0.4
Seed hedge derivatives — 1.1 — 1.1
Longterm debt - 301.4 — 3014
Deferred bonuses — — 68.5 68.5
Contingent consideration — — 61.3 61.3
Total liabilities $ 04 $ 3046 $ 129.8 $434.8
Redeemable noncontrolling interests:
Consolidated seeded investment products $ — 3 — 3 121.6 $121.6
Intech — — 14.5 14.5
Total redeemable noncontrolling interests $ — 3 — 3 136.1 $136.1
(1) Carried at amortized cost and disclosed at fair value.
Level 1 Fair Value Measurements
JHG s Level 1 fewrid consist mdstly ef semded isvestmennproducts, investments in advised mutual

funds, cash equivalents and investments related to deferred compensation plans with quoted market prices in active
markets. The fair value level of consolidated seeded inwgtproducts is determined by the underlying securities of
the product. The fair value level of unconsolidated seeded investment products is determined using the respective net

asset value (“NAV”") of each product.

Level 2 Fair Value Measurements

JHG s Level 2 fair value measurements consist mostly
i nstrument s -tarm debtJTheGdir salu¢ af coigsolidated seeded investment products is determined by the
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underlying securities oftheprd uct . The f ai rterm debtiseeteonfinedusing brekerlquotesgand
recent trading activity, which are considered Level 2 inputs.

Level 3 Fair Value Measurements
Investment Securities

As of June30, 2019, anddecembe1, 2018 certain seauties within consolidated VIEs were valued using significant
unobservable inputs, resulting in Level 3 classification.

Valuation techniques and significant unobservable input
within consolicted VIEs as odune30,2019 and Decembe31,2018, were as follows (in millions):

Significant
Fair Valuation unobservable
As of June 30, 2019 value technique inputs Inputs
Investment securities of consolidated VIEs $ 15.8 Discountel Discount rate 15%
cash flow EBITDA multiple 16.4
Priceearnings rati 27.7
Significant
Fair Valuation unobservable Range
As of December 31, 2018 value technique inputs (weighted-average)
Investment securities of consolidated VIEs $ 19.2 Discountel Discount rate 15%
cash flow EBITDA multiple 18.5
Priceearnings rati 28.4
Contingent Consideration
The maximum amount payable and fair value of Gerlizaap i t a | Ma n a g e me, Rerenril Eixed I(téréSte ne v a”

Partners Pty Ltd and Perenni al Gr o wtKhpstManGapitplePty eimited Pt y Lt
( “ Ka p s tantengent tonsideraticeresummarized below (in millions):

As of June 30, 2019

Geneva Perennial Kapstream
Maximum amount payable $ 613 $ 158 $ 13.8
Fair value included in:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ — % 120 $ 13.2
Other norcurrent liabilities 6.6 — —
Total fair value $ 6.6 $ 120 $ 13.2

As of December 31, 2018

Geneva Perennial Kapstream
Fair value included in:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ — 3 — 3 13.8
Other norcurrent liabilities 25.3 9.9 12.3
Total far value $ 253 $ 99 $ 26.1
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Acquisition of Geneva

The consideration payable on the acquisition of Geneva in 2014 indlwdedntingent tranches payable ogex years

The fair value of the contingent consideration payable upon the acquisition of Geneva is estimated at each reporting date
by forecasting revenue, as defined by the sale and purchase agreement, over the contingency period and by determining
whether target will be met. Significant unobservable inputs used in the valuation are limited to forecast revenues, which
factor in expected growth in assets under management (*°

A fair value adjustment due to a revisedeftast resulted in $20.0million decrease to the liability during the three
months ended June 30, 2019. The adjustment was recorded in othegyarating income, net ch H GCosdensed
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income. The remainingdhahg liability is due to the unwind of the
discount.

Acquisition of Perennial

The acquisition of Perennial included eawurt payable in 2019. The eaont has employee service conditions, is based
on net management fee revenue and is accrued oveeriee period as compensation expense.

The fair value of the Perennial eawnt is calculated at each reporting date by forecasting Perennial revenues over the
contingency period and determining whether the forecasted amounts meet the defined targasifidant

unobservable input used in the valuation is forecasted revenue, and the liability in§&asatlion during the six

months ended Jurgd, 2019.

Acquisition of Kapstream

The purchase of Kapstream was a step acquisition and the purchizssedond stegl®%) had contingent

consideration of up t$43.0million. Payment of the contingent consideration is subject to all Kapstream products and
certain products advised by the Group, reaching defined revenue targets on the first, secardlamviersaries of

January 31, 2017. The contingent consideration is payaliedeequal installments on the anniversary dates and is

indexed to the performance of the premier share class of the Kapstream Absolute Return Income Fund. When Kapstream
adhieves the defined revenue targets, the holders receive the value of the contingent consideration adjusted for gains or
losses attributable to the mutual fund to which the contingent consideration is indexed, subject to tax withholding. On
January 31, 2018nd 2019, the first and second anniversary of the acquisition, Kapstream reached defined revenue
targets, and the Group pa&d4.1million in February 2019 an#i15.3million in February 2018.

The fair value of the Kapstream contingent consideration ¢sileabd at each reporting date by forecasting certain
Kapstream AUM or defined revenue over the contingency period and determining whether the forecasted amounts meet
the defined targets. Significant unobservable inputs used in the valuation are liniitext&sted Kapstream AUM and
performance against defined revenue tardétdair value adjustment was necessary duthegthree and six months

ended Jun&0,2019

Disposal of Volantis

On April 1, 2017, the Group completed the sale of the VolantisUK Emh  Cap ( “ Vol anti s”) alterr
Consideration for the sale wad@%share of the management and performance fees generated by Volantis for a period
of three years

The fair value of the Volantis contingent consideration is estimated ateyamtiing date by forecasting revenues over

the contingency period dfiree yearsSignificant unobservable inputs used in the valuation are limited to forecast
revenues, which factor in expected growth in AUM based on performance and industry treedsekar forecast

revenue increase the fair value of the consideration, while decreases in forecast revenue decrease the fair value. The
forecasted share of revenues is then discounted back to the valuation date using a discount rate.

As of June30,2019 and December 31, 2018, the fair value of the Volantis contingent considerati®3.®asllion
and$3.9million, respectively.
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Deferred Bonuses

Deferred bonuses represent liabilities to employees over the vesting period that will be settled by inviesiidénts
products. The significant unobservable inputs are investment designations and vesting periods.

Redeemable Noncontrolling Interests in Intech

Redeemabl e noncontrolling interests in Intechuelomavest men
quarterly basis or more frequently if events or circumstances indicate that a material change in the fair value of Intech

has occurred. The fair value of Intech is determined using a valuation methodology that incorporates observable metrics
from publicly traded peer companies as valuation comparables and adjustments related to investment performance and
changes in AUM. Changes in fair value are recognizexther noroperatingincome net on JHG' s Conden
Consolidated Statements of Comprehenkio®me.

Redeemable Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Seeded Investment Products

Redeemable noncontrolling interests in consolidated seeded investment products are measured at fair value. Their fair
values are primarily driven by the fair value bétinvestments in consolidated funds. The fair value of redeemable
noncontrolling interests may also fluctuate from period
percentage of seed investments. Changes in fair value are recognizacdvine st ment gains (|l osses),
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income.

Changes in Fair Value

Changes in fair val uthetbrée addHdixGrosthslerdedelfe?2@19 and 20834resas follows
(in millions):

Three months ended Six months ended
June 30, June 30,

2019 2018 2019 2018
Beginning of period fair value $ 198 $ 472 $ 231 $ 465
Settlements (0.9 (1.8 (1.2) (2.2
Movement recognized in net income 0.2 (6.1) (2.9 (5.3
Movements recognized in other comprehensive income — (0.6) 0.1 (0.3
End of period fair value $ 191 $ 387 $ 191 $ 387
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Changes in fair value

of JHG' s individual the threeland 3ix |

months ended Jurgd, 2019 and 2018are as follows (in millions):

Three months ended June 30,

2019 2018
Redeemable Redeemable
Contingent  Deferred noncontrolling  Contingent  Deferred Dai-ichi noncontrolling
consideration  bonuses interests consideration  bonuses option interests

Beginning of year fair value $ 498 $ 831 $ 137.0 $ 502 $ 795% 43 $ 217.7

Changes in ownership — — 18.2 — — - (32.6]

Net movement in bonus deferrals — (22.4, — — (15.2 — —

Fair value adjustments (20.0 — — (0.2) — (1.9 (0.2)

Unrealized gains (losses) 2.4 — (1.6 — - — (6.5
Amortization of Intech appreciatio

rights — — 0.3 — —_- - 0.3

Distributions — — (0.3) — —_ - (0.3

Foreign currency translation (0.4 — — 1.7 — (0.3 (0.6

End of period fair value $ 318 $ 60.7 $ 1536 $ 57.3 $643% 21 $ 177.8

Six months ended June 30,
2019 2018
Redeemable Redeemable
Contingent  Deferred noncontrolling  Contingent  Deferred Dai-ichi  noncontrolling
consideration  bonuses interests consideration bonuses  option interests

Beginning of period fair value $ 61.3 $685 $ 1361 $ 76.6 $64.7 $ 261 $ 190.3

Changes in ownership — — 14.2 — — — (5.5

Net movement in bonus deferr: — (7.8) — — (0.4) — —

Fair value adjustments (20.0 — — 1.8 — (24.7 0.2

Unrealized gains (losses) 4.8 — 3.0 — — — (5.4

Amortization of Intech

appreciation rights — — 0.6 — — — (0.6

Distributions (24.1 — (0.3) (18.8 — — (0.4

Foreign currency translation (0.2) — — (2.3) — 0.7 (0.8

End of period fair value $ 318 $60.7 $ 1536 $ 57.3 $643 $ 21 $ 177.8

Nonrecurring Fair Value Measurements

Nonrecurring Level 3 fair value measurements include goodwill and intangible asse@rolipemeasures the fair

value of goodwill and intangible assets on initi

al recognition using discounted cash flow analysis that requires

abi

assumptions regarding projected future earnings and discount rates. Because of the significance of the unobservable
inputs in the fair value measurements of these assets, such measurements are classified as Level 3.
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Note 5 — Goodwill and Intangible Assets

The following table presents movements in intangible assets and goodwill during the six months eng@20u9e
and 2018 (in millions):

Foreign
December 31, currency June 30,
2018 Amortization ~ Impairment  translation  Disposal 2019

Indefinite-lived intangible asets:

Investment management agreemenit $ 2,4955 $ — 8 (18.0' $ (09 % — $2,476.6

Trademarks 380.8 — — — — 380.8
Definite-lived intangible assets:

Client relationships 363.3 — — (0.1) — 363.2

Accumulated amortization (116.3 a4.7 — 0.1 — (130.9
Net intangible assets $ 3,1233 $ 14.7 $ (18.0' $ (0.9 $ — $3,089.7
Goodwill $ 14780 $ — 3 — $ 0.6) $ — $1,4774

Foreign
December 31, currency June 30,
2017 Amortization Impairment  translation Disposal 2018

Indefinite-lived intangible asets:

Investment management agreement $ 2,543.9 $ — 3 — $ (200 % — $2,523.9

Trademarks 381.2 — — (0.3) — 380.9
Definite-lived intangible assets:

Client relationships 369.4 — — (3.0) — 366.4

Accumulated amortization (89.7 (14.8 — 1.3 — (103.2
Net intangible assets $ 3,204.8 $ (148 $ — $ (220 % — $3,168.0
Goodwill $ 15339 % — 3 — $ (199 % (9.5 $1,504.5

The Group recognized &18.0million impairment related to certain mutual fund investment management agreements
during the three months ended June 30, 268 to lower than expected growth.

Future Amortization

Expected future amortization expense related to client relationstipmimarized below (in millions):

Future amortization Amount
2019 (remainder of year) $ 147
2020 29.4
2021 26.5
2022 18.0
2023 17.8
Thereafter 125.9
Total $ 2323

Note 6 — Leases
The Gr oup’ s opeatmgardBnanicereasesufod moperty and equipment. Property leases include office space

in the United Kingdom (“UK”), EurPagfieregioh. Eqipmentieasesd St at es
include copiers and server equipment located thromgut JHG' s of fice space. The Group
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terms ofone yeato 10 years Certain leases includmtionsto extendor early terminate the leases, however, the Group

currently does not intend to exercise these options and they areenbtl ect ed i n the Group’'s | ea
The impact obperatingandfinancingleases on th&roug financial statements is summarized below.
Balance Sheet
Operating and financing | ease ass et BalaacaSheetsiasaob i ities on
June30, 2019, consisted of the following (in millions):
Operating lease right-of-use assets: June 30, 2019
Other norcurrent assets $ 138.1
Operating lease liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ 26.4
Other norcurrent liabilities 133.4
Total operating lease liabilities $ 159.8
Finance lease right-of-use assets:
Property and equipment, cost $ 13.0
Accumulated depreciation (11.6
Property and equipment, net $ 1.4
Finance lease liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ 0.9
Other norcurrent liabilities 0.6
Total finance lease liabilities $ 15
Statement of Comprehensive Income
The components of | ease expense on JHG s Condteatereed Cons
and six months ended Jud@, 2019 is summarized below (in millions):
Three months ended Six months ended
June 30, 2019 June 30, 2019
Operating lease cost® $ 86 $ 19.5
Finance lease cost:
Amortization of rightof-use assé&t $ 03 % 0.6
Interest on lease liabiliti€$ — —
Total finance lease cost $ 03 % 0.6
@ Included in general, administrative and occupancy on
Comprehensive Income.
2Included in depreciation and amortization on the Grouj
Income.
(3) Includedininer est expense on the Group’'s Condensed Consol i de

The Group suleases certain office buildings in the UK and rece$g&@®@million and$3.6million from the tenants
during the three and six months ended BM&@019, respectivelyThe Group recognized®4.7million impairment of a
subleased ROU operating asset in the UK during the six months ended June 38s 201l6ction of rents undére
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sublease are uncertain. Also, the Group recogniZ&ismillion impairment of a U.S. operating lease during the three
months ended June 30, 20&@e to early termination of the lease.

Cash Flow Statement

Cash payments for operating and financeleas i ncl uded i n the Group’'sefC&sbndensed
Flows forthe six months ended JuB8,2019 consisted of the following (in millions):

Six months ended
June 30, 2019

Operating cash flows from operating leases $ 17.4
Operating cash flows from finance leases $ —
Financing cash flows from finance leases $ 0.6

Noncash lease transactions during the six months endeB0u2@19, included &19.8million ROU asset and
corresponding lease liability for a UK property lease commenchthch 2019

Supplemental Information

As of June30,2019 the Group has an additional operating Ias®ffice space in the U.S. that has not yet commenced.
The lease will commence on September 1, 204i¢h a lease term df1 yearsThefuturerentobligationsassociated

with the lease ar$8.4 million.

The weighteeaverage remaining lease term, weighéegrage discount rate and future lease maturities are surathar
below.

Weighted-average remaining lease term (in months): June 30, 2019
Operating leases 85
Finance leases 19

Weighted-average discount rate: June 30, 2019
Operating leases 4.5%
Finance leases 2.7%

Future lease obligations (in millions) Operating leases Finance leases

2019 (excluding six months ended June 30, 2019) $ 16.1 $ 0.6

2020 30.5 0.7

2021 28.2 0.1

2022 24.1 0.1

2023 22.2 —

Thereafter 68.2 —
Total lease payments 189.3 15

Less interest 29.5 —
Total $ 1598 $ 1.5
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Note 7 — Debt

Debt as of Jund0, 2019, and Decemb&l, 2018, consisted of the following (in millions):

June 30, 2019 December 31, 2018
Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
value value value value
4.875% Senior Notes due 2025 $317.7 $324.3 $319.1 $301.4

4.875% Senior Notes Due 2025

The Group’'s 4.875% Senior Notes due 2 0$3m.0Onfilforradaf5 Seni or
June30, 2019, pay interest d@.875%semiannually on February 1 and August 1 of each year, and mature on August 1,
2025. The 2025 Senior Notes include unamortized debt premium, net &Q]@049, of$17.7million, which will be

amortized over the remaining life of the notes. The unaneatilebt premium is recorded as a liability within ldagm

debt on JHG's Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets. JH
Janus Capital Group I nc. (“JCG”) in relation to the 202
Credit Faciity

At June30,2019, JHG had $200mi | | i on, unsecured, revolving credit faci
Merrill Lynch International Limited as coordinator, book runner and mandated lead arranger. JHG and its subsidiaries

can use the @dit Facility for general corporate purposes. The rate of interest for each interest period is the aggregate of
the applicabl e mar gi n -ternwdraditratingiasd the bosderdintesbank Offéed Ratel o n g
(“LI'BOR”); the Edr &atet éf E&RKBORf Erin relation to any |
any |l oan in Australian dollars (“AUD”), the benchmark r
commitment fee on any unused portion of the Credit Facility, wth i s al s o b-tesnerditatng.J HG' s | o

Under the Credit Facility, the financing leverage ratio cannot ex8€€d EBITDA. At June30,2019, JHG was in
compliance with all covenants, and there wardorrowings under the Credit Facility ain&i80,2019,0r during the six
months ended Jurgd, 2019. The maturity date of the Credit Facility is February 16, 2024.

Note 8 — Income Taxes

The Group’'s effective tax r at 80s2010 and2008hae asfbllovese and si x m

Three months

ended Six months ended
June 30, June 30,
2019 2018 2019 2018
Effective tax rate 24.0% 22.6% 235% 22.6%

The increase in the effective tax rate for the three and six menttesl Jun&80, 2019, compare to the same periods in
2018 wagrimarily due toan increase in nedeductible compensatienelated expenses

As of June30, 2019, andDecembeB1,2018 JHG hadb12.1million and$12.4million of unrecognized tax benefits

held for uncertain tax positions, respectively. JHG estimates that the existing liability for uncertain tax positions could
decrease by up 1.1 million within the next 12 months, without giving effect to change®iaign currency

translation.
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Note 9 — Noncontrolling Interests
Redeemable Noncontrolling Interests

Redeemable noncontrolling interests as of @019, and Decemb@&1,2018, consisted of the following (in
millions):

June 30, December 31,
2019 2018
Consolidated seeded investment products $ 1388 $ 121.6
Intech:
Appreciation rights 11.4 10.9
Founding member ownership interests 3.4 3.6
Total redeemable noncontrolling interests $ 1536 $ 136.1

Consolidated Seeded Investment Products

Noncontrolling interests in consolidated seeded investment products are classified as redeemable noncontrolling interests
when there is an obligation to repurchase units at the

Redeemable noncontrolling interests in consolidated seeded investment products may fluctuate from period to period

and are impacted by changes i n JHG’' s-partgihvastmentiaseedeth er s hi p
products and volatilityimn he mar ket value of the seed-padyrgdenptiboat s’ unde
investments is redeemed from the respective product’s n

products or from the assets of JHG.

The following table presents the movement in redeemable noncontrolling interests in consolidated seeded investment
products for the three and six months ended 30n2019 and 2018 (in millions):

Three months ended Six months ended
June 30, June 30,

2019 2018 2019 2018
Opening balance $ 1220 $ 2029 $ 1216 $ 174.9
Changes in market value 2.7 (6.7 7.2 (5.6
Changes in ownership 14.2 (32.6 10.0 (5.5
Foreign currency translation (0.1) (0.6) — (0.8
Closing balance $ 1388 $ 1630 $ 1388 $ 163.0

Intech

Intech ownership interests held by a founding member had an estimated fair v&Buémnoillion as of June0,2019,
representing an approximatel % ownership of IntechThis founding member is entitled to retain his remaining Intech
interests until his death and has the option to require JHG to purchase his ownership interests in Intech at fair value.

Intechappreciation rights are being amortized on a graded vesting method over the respective vesting period. The
appreciation rights are exercisable upon termination of employment from Intech to the extent vested. Upon exercise, the
appreciation rights are sedtl in Intech equity.
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Nonredeemable Noncontrolling Interests

Nonredeemable noncontrolling interests as of Bh2019, and Decemb&l, 2018, are as follows (in millions):

June 30, December 31,
2019 2018
Nonredeemablaoncontrolling interests in:
Seed capital investments $ 94 % 8.3
Intech 13.0 13.2
Total nonredeemable noncontrolling interests $ 224 % 215

Note 10 — Long-Term Incentive and Employee Compensation
The Groupgranted$4.5million and$153.9million in long-term incentive awards during the three and six months ended

June30, 2019, respectively, which generally vest and will be recognized on a graded vesting methaithi@eeoa
four-yearperiod.

Note 11 — Retirement Benefit Plans
The Group operates defined contribution retirement benefit plans and defined benefit pension plans.

The main defined benefit pension plan sponsored by the Group is the defined benefit section of the Janus Henderson
Group UK Pensi BPB” pcheme (“JHG

Net Periodic Benefit Credit

The components of net periodic benefit credit in respect of defined benefit plans for the three and six months ended
June30, 2019 and 2018, include the following (in millions):

Three months ended Six months ended
June 30, June 30,
2019 2018 2019 2018
Service cost $ (03 $ (@©3) $ (06 $ (0.6
Interest cost (4.6) (4.2 (9.3) (9.0
Expected return on plan assets 5.2 5.4 10.6 11.5
Net periodic benefit credit 0.3 09 $ 07 $ 1.9

Note 12 — Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss

Changes in accumulated other comprehensive loss, net of tax, for the three and six months eB6e20Lthand
2018, are as follows (imillions):

Three months ended June 30,

2019 2018
Retirement Retirement
Foreign benefit Foreign benefit
currency asset, net Total currency asset, net Total
Beginning balance $4115 $ 24.7 $(386.8 $(272.4 % 21.0 $(251.4
Other comprehensive income (loss) (37.3 — (37.3 (104.7 — (a04.7
Less: other comprehensive loss (income)
attributable to noncontrolling interests 0.1 — 0.1 0.6 — 0.6
Ending balance $(448.7 $ 24,7 $(424.0 $(3765 $ 21.0 $(3555
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Six months ended June 30,

2019 2018
Retirement Retirement
Foreign benefit Foreign benefit
currency asset, net Total currency asset, net Total
Beginning balance $(448.2 $ 247 $(4235 $(3253 $ 21.0 $(304.3
Other comprehensive income (0.5) — (0.5) (52.0 — (52.0
Less: other comprehensive loss (income)
attributable to noncontrolling interests — — — 0.8 — 0.8
Ending balance $(448.7 $ 247 $(4240 $(3765 $ 21.0 $(355.5

The components of other comprehensive income, neixdbr the three and six months ended 3019 and 2018
are as follows (in millions):

Three months ended June 30,

2019 2018
Pre-tax Tax Pre-tax Tax
amount impact Netamount amount impact Netamount
Foreign currency translaticadjustments $@37.7 $04 $ (373 $(104.7 $ — $ (104.7

Six months ended June 30,

2019 2018
Pre-tax Tax Pre-tax Tax
amount  impact Netamount amount impact Netamount
Foreign currency translaticaadjustments $24 $ 19 $ (05 $(520 $ — $ (520
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Note 13 — Changes in Equity

The following tables present the condensed consolidated statements of changes in equity for the three months ended
June30, 2019 and 2018:

Three Months Ended June 30, 2019 Accumulated
Additional other Nonredeemable
Number of  Common paid-in Treasury comprehensive  Retained  noncontrolling Total
shares stock capital shares loss earnings interests equity
Balance at April 1, 2019 1952 ¢ 2927 $ 38021 $ (1654 $ (386.8 $ 1,309.9 $ 226 $4,875.1
Net income — — — — — 109.4 0.2 109.6
Other comprehensive loss — — — — 37.2 — — (37.2
Dividends paid to shareholders — — 0.1 — — (68.7 — (68.6,
Share buyback program (3.6 (5.2) — — — (70.0, — (75.2,
Distributions to noncontrolling interests — — — — — — 0.4, 0.4,
Fair value adjustments to redeemable
noncontrolling interests — — — — — 0.2 — 0.2
Purchase of common stock for steu&sed
compensation plans — — (1.8) 0.8 — — — (1.0,
Vesting of stockbased compensation plans — — (16.8 16.8 — — — —
Stockbased compensation plan expense — — 18.0 — — — — 18.0
Balance at June 30, 2019 1916 $ 2875 $ 38016 $ (1478 $ (4240 $ 1,280.8 $ 22.4 $4,820.5
Three Months Ended June 30, 2018 Accumulated
Additional other Nonredeemable
Number of ~ Common paid-in Treasury comprehensive  Retained  noncontrolling Total
shares stock capital shares loss earnings interests equity
Balance at April 1, 2018 2004 ¢ 3006 $ 3,786.0 $ (1989 $ (2514 $ 12559 $ 34.7 $4,926.9
Net income — — — — — 140.6 3.4 137.2
Other comprehensive loss — — — — (104.1 — — (104.1
Dividends paid to shareholders — — 0.1 — — (71.7, — (71.6,
Distributions to noncontrolling interests — — — — — — (3.0 (3.0
Fair value adjustments to redeemable
noncontrolling interests — — — — — 0.1 — 0.1
Redemptions of convertible debt — — (0.1) — — — — (0.1
Purchase of common stock for stedu&sed
compensation plans — — (0.2 1.2 — — — 1.4,
Vesting of stockbased compensatigrians — — (27.2) 27.2 — — — —
Stockbased compensation plan expense — — 24.8 — — — — 24.8
Proceeds from stoekased compensation
plans — — 0.1 — — — — 0.1
Balance at June 30, 2018 2004 $ 3006 $ 37835 $ (1729 $ (355.5 $1,3249 $ 28.3 $4,908.9
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Note 14 — Earnings and Dividends Per Share

Earnings Per Share

The following is a summary of the earnings per share calculation for the three and six months enge®0l8eand
2018 (in millions, except per share data):

Three months ended Six months ended
June 30, June 30,

2019 2018 2019 2018
Net income attributable to JHG $ 1094 $ 1406 $ 2035 $ 3058
Less: dlocation of earnings to participating steblsed awards (3.2) (3.8) (5.6 (7.6
Net income attributable to JHG common shareholders $ 1062 $ 136.8 $ 1979 $ 2982
Weightedaverage common shares outstandidasic 190.2 195.8 191.1 195.9
Dilutive effect ofnon-participating stockbased awards 0.5 0.8 0.5 1.3
Weightedaverage common shares outstandingliluted 190.7 196.6 191.6 197.2

Earnings per share:

Basic $ 056 $ 070 $ 104 $ 152
Diluted (two class) $ 056 $ 070 $ 103 $ 151

The following instruments are astilutive and have not been included in the weigkaedrage diluted shares
outstanding daulation (in millions):

Three months

ended Six months ended
June 30, June 30,
2019 2018 2019 2018

Unvested nonparticipating stock awards 1.0 0.6 1.0 0.6

Dai-ichi options — 10.0 — 10.0
The Datichi options expired on October 3, 2018.
DividendsPer Share
The payment of cash dividends is within the discretion
including, but not I|imited to, the Group’s results of o

business coritions and legal requirements.

The following is a summary of cash dividends paid during the three and six months end&d, 2048:

Dividend Date Dividends paid Date

per share declared (in US$ millions) paid
$ 0.36 February 4, 2019 $ 69.7 February 26, 201¢
$ 0.36 May 1, 2019 $ 68.6 May 29, 2019

On July 30, 2019, JHG's Boar d $&36peshareeThe qoarterly divilend willkbe d a ¢
paid on August 28, 2019, to shareholders of record at the close of business on August 12, 2019.
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Note 15 — Commitments and Contingencies

Commitments and contingencies may arise in the normal course of buBlagsto Note 6— Leases for information

related to operating and financing lease commitments. As of3ly2€19, there were no other material changes in the
commitmentsandconine nci es as reported i n -KidrGhe yearkemdadu a | Report on
DecembeR1,2018.

Litigation and Other Regulatory Matters
JHG is periodically involved in various legal proceedings and other regulatory matters.

Richard Pease v. Henderson Admiragon Limited

The outcome of a court case involving aregmployee was determined in the first quarter of 2018. The case related to

the fees the Group should receive after a fund was transferred teeamgxl oyee (t he “Fund Transf e
exempl oyee’s entitlement to deferred and forfeited remun
recognizing a $12.2 million charge in general, administ

Statements of Comprehensive Inm®after the judge held that the@mployee was not bound to pay the Fund Transfer

Fees and thattheexmp | oyee’' s contract gave him an entitlement to
also includes legal costs relating to the case. Hendersad mi ni stration Limited (*“HAL"),
JHG, appealed the part of the judgment relating to the Fund Transfer Fees and judgment was handed down by the Court
of Appeal of England and Wales on February 15, 2019, in favor of HAL. Asuét,rand subject to any further appeal,

the Group was awarded the Fund Transfer Fees and related interest of approximately $5.0 million and $0.3 million,
respectively. It will also be entitled to certain costs relating to the appeal and the eariiesdfel as they relate to the

Fund Transfer Fees claim.

Eisenberg v. Credit Suisse AG and Janus Indices, Halbert v. Credit Suisse AG and Janus Indices, Qiu v. Credit Suisse
AG and Janus Indices and@AR Capital v. Credit Suisse AG and Janus Indices Rartinstein v. Credit Suisse Group
AG and Janus Indices

On March 15, 2018, a class action lawsuit was filed in the United States District Court for the Southern District of New
York (“SDNY”) against Janus | ndex &uaga,l2@le, ivestenamed J&esr vi c e
Henderson Indices LLC (“Janus I ndices”), a subsidiary o
purchased VelocityShares Daily Inverse VIX Skberm ETN (Ticker: XIV) between January 29, 2018, andr&aty

5, 2018 Eisenberg v. Credit Suisse AG and Janus Inflic&edit Suisse, the issuer of the XIV notes, is also named as a
defendant in the lawsuit. The plaintiffs generally allege statements by Credit Suisse and Janus Indices, including those in
theregistration statement, were materially false and misleading based on its discussion of how the intraday indicative
value (*“11V”) is calculated and that the 11V was not an
2018, a second lawiwvas filed against Janus Indices and Credit Suisse in the United States District Court of the

Northern District of Alabama by certain investors in XMNalbert v. Credit Suisse AG and Janus Indjc&n May 4,

2018, a third lawsuit, styled as a classacbn behalf of investors who purchased XIV between January 29, 2018, and
February 5, 2018, was filed against Janus Indices and Credit Suisse AG in the QDNY Credit Suisse AG and

Janus Indices TheHalbertandQiu allegations generally copy thdemdations in thécisenbergcase. On August 20,

2018, an amended complaint was filed in HisenbergandQiu cases (which have been consolidated in the SDNY

under the nam8&et Capital LLC, et al. v. Credit Suisse AG, &t aldding Janus Distributors LL@ping business as

Janus Henderson Distributors, and Janus Henderson Group plc as parties, and adding allegations of market manipulation
by all of the defendants.

On February 7, 2019, a fourth lawsuit was filed against Janus Indices, Janus Distrib@pdsihlis Henderson Group

plc, and Credit Suisse in the United States District Co
investors in XIV {-GAR Capital LLC v. Credit Suisse Group AG, et ahg allegations ity-GARgenerally assert tha

the disclosures relating to XIV were false and misleading. On March 29, 2019, the plaintiff withdrew the suit from the

EDNY and refiled it in the SDNY.
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On February 4, 2019, a fifth lawsuit was filed against Janus Index, Janus Distributors LLC, dadeissbh Group plc
and various Credit Suisse persons in the SDR¥b{nstein v. Credit Suisse Group AG, et dlhe Janus Henderson
defendants were served with the complaint on April 1, 2019. The suit is styled as a class action and involves
VelocityShars Daily Inverse VIX Mediuriferm ETN (Ticker: ZIV), but otherwisgenerally copies the allegations in
the XIV cases described above.

The Group believes the claims in these exchdraged note lawsuits are without merit and is strongly defending the
actiors. As of June 30, 2019, the Group cannot reasonably estimate possiblertoesde fclaims in the exchange
traded note lawsuits.
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With respect to the unaudited financial information of Janus Henderson Group plc as of and for -ime thineendsix-

month periods ended June 30, 2019, appearing herein, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP (United States) reported that they
have applied limited procedures in accordance with professional standards for a review of such information. However,
their separate repodated July 31, 2019 appearing herein, states that they did not audit and they do not express an
opinion on that unaudited financial information. Accordingly, the degree of reliance on their report on such information
should be restricted in light of tiienited nature of the review procedures applied. PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP (United
States) is not subject to the liability provisions of Section 11 of the Securities Act of 1993 for their report on the
unaudited financial information because that reportdt a "report” or a "part" of the registration statement prepared or
certified by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP (United States) within the meaning of Sections 7 and 11 of the Act.

With respect to the unaudited financial information of Janus Hendersomp @lotor the threanonth and sixmonth

periods ended June 30, 2018, appearing herein, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP (United Kingdom) reported that they have
applied limited procedures in accordance with professional standards for a review of such infotthaatiewver, their

separate report dated July 31, 2018, except with respect to the reference to their opinion on the consolidated financial
statements in the final paragraph, as to which the date is February 26, 2019, appearing herein, states thatthey did n
audit and they do not express an opinion on that unaudited financial information. Accordingly, the degree of reliance on
their report on such information should be restricted in light of the limited nature of the review procedures applied.
PricewaterhoseCooopers LLP (United Kingdom) is not subject to the liability provisions of Section 11 of the Securities
Act of 1933 for their report on the unaudited financial information because that report is not a "report" or a "part" of the
registration statementgpared or certified by PricewaterhouseCooopers LLP (United Kingdom) within the meaning of
Sections 7 and 11 of the Act.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of Janus Henderson @coup

Results of Review of Interim Financial Statements

We have reviewed the accompanying condensed consolidated balance sheet of Janus Henderson Group plc and its
subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of Jun enerds®fconpehersive and t
income for the threenonth and sixnonth period ended June 30, 2019 and the condensed consolidated statement of cash
flows and of changes in equity for the-gnonth period ended June 30, 2019, including the related notes (collective
referred to as the “interim financial statements?”). Bas
that should be made to the accompanying interim financial statements for them to be in conformity with accounting
principles generajl accepted in the United States of America.

Basis for Review Results

These interim financi al statements are the responsibildi
firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (didtates) (PCAOB) and are required to be
independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and
regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB. We conducted ounrastendance with

the standards of the PCAOB. A review of interim financial information consists principally of applying analytical

procedures and making inquiries of persons responsible for financial and accounting matters. It is substantially less in
scqpe than an audit conducted in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB, the objective of which is the expression

of an opinion regarding the financial statements taken as a whole. Accordingly, we do not express such an opinion.

/sl PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Denver, Colorado
July 31, 2019
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of Janus Henderson @coup

Results of Review of Interim Financial Statements

We havereviewed the accompanying condensed consolidated balance sheet of Janus Henderson Group plc and its
subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of 30 June 2018, and th
income for the threenonth and sixnonthperiods ended 30 June 2018 and the condensed consolidated statements of

cash flows and of changes in equity for thersignth period ended 30 June 2018, including the related notes
(collectively referred to as ourevieW,iwe arenotiawarefofianyanaterial a | st a
modifications that should be made to the accompanying interim financial statements for them to be in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Basis for Review Raults

These interim financial statements are the responsibili
firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are required to be
independent withespect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and
regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB. We conducted our review in accordance with

the standards of the PCAOB. A reviewimterim financial information consists principally of applying analytical

procedures and making inquiries of persons responsible for financial and accounting matters. It is substantially less in
scope than an audit conducted in accordance with the stisnofethe PCAOB, the objective of which is the expression

of an opinion regarding the financial statements taken as a whole. Accordingly, we do not express such an opinion.

We previously audited, in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB, the datesblhalance sheet as of 31

December 2018, and the related consolidated statement of changes in equity, of comprehensive income and of cash
flows for the year then ended (not presented herein), and in our report dated 26 February 2019, we expressed an
unqualified opinion on those consolidated financial statements. In our opinion, the information set forth in the
accompanying condensed consolidated balance sheet as of 31 December 2018, is fairly stated, in all material respects, in
relation to the consolated balance sheet from which it has been derived.

/sl PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

London, UK

31 July2018, except with respect to the reference to our opinion on the consolidated financial statements in the final
paragraph, as to which the date is 26 baky 2019
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Item 2. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS
OF OPERATIONS OF JANUS HENDERSON GROUP PLC

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Certain statements in this Quarterly Reporton FAfQ c o nt ai rfookinfsotramaement so wi thin th
the federal securities laws, including the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995, as amended2 Beaifon

the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and S&¢fianf the Securities Act of 1933, as aded. Such

forward-looking statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties, assumptions and other factors which may
cause the actual results, performance or achievements o
consolidated subsidiegis (col l ectively, the AGroupod or AJHGO) to be
performance or achievements expressed or implied by such folaakithg statements and future results could differ

materially from historical performance. Staterteepreceded by, followed by or that otherwise include the words

Aibelieveso, fAexpectso, fAanticipatesod, Aintendso, dAproje
Aiforecasto, fiseekso, Atarget so, amndfutdredoocorkitonahverdssschasi | ar w
Awill o, Ashoul do, Awoul dd, fAmayo, fAcoul dd and-loekmg i ati on

in nature and not historical facts. Any statements that refer to expectations or other charaotesiaffuture events,
circumstances or results are forwalgboking statements. These statements are based on the beliefs and assumptions of
Company management based on information currently available to management.

Various risks, uncertainties, assumptcend factors that could cause future results to differ materially from those

expressed by the forwatdoking statements included in this Quarterly Report on Fbor@ include, but are not

limited to, risks, uncertainties, assumptions and factors spécifie n t he Gr oup ds K foutrel Report
year endedecembeBl, 2018 and this Quarterly Reporton FortfQ i ncl uded wunder headings
Factorso, fiManagement s Di scussion and AnaflJangsi s of Fina
Henderson Group plco, and AQuantitative and Qualitative
furnishings made by the Company with the Securities and
these risks, uncainties, assumptions and factors, the forwydking events discussed in this Quarterly Report on

Form 10-Q may not occur. Forwartboking statements by their nature address matters that are, to different degrees,

subject to numerous assumptions and knamshunknown risks and uncertainties, which change over time and are

beyond the control of the Company and its management. You are cautioned not to place undue reliance on these
forward-looking statements, which speak only as of the date stated, oratedsdtated, as of the date of this Quarterly

Report on FormL0-Q. The Company does not assume any duty and does not undertake to updateldaiiagd

statements, to report events or to report the occurrence of unanticipated events, whether agfnesthformation,

future developments or otherwise, should circumstances change, nor does the Company intend to do so, except as
otherwise required by securities and other applicable laws and regulations.

AVAILABLE INFORMATION

JHG makes available fred charge its annual reports on Fot®K, quarterly reports on Fort0-Q and current reports

on Form8-K and amendments thereto as soon as reasonably practical after such filing has been made with the SEC.
Reports may be obtained through the InvestorRetan s secti on of JHG's website (httj
contents of JHG's website are not incorporated herein f
contains reports, proxy and information statements, and other informegjarding issuers that file electronically with

the SEC at http://www.sec.gov.

JHG s Officer Code of Ethics for Chi ef ing#is€loiaiRinancial Of f i c e
Of ficer and Chief Acc ountGomaate@bde df Business Condircefor all@rhployeeser Co d
corporate governance guidelines; and the charters of key committees of the Board of Directors (including the Audit,
Compensation, Risland Nominating and Corporate Governance committees) are avaitatile Investor Relations
section of jantsBenderson.edimsAny feturg amendments to or waivers of the Officer Code will be
posted to the Investor Relations section of JHG' s websi
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Business Overview

JHG is an independent global assetnager, specializing in active investment across all major asset classes. JHG
actively manages a broad range of investment products for institutional and retail investors across five capabilities:
Equities, Quantitative Equities, Fixed Income, Mulsetand Alternatives.

OnMay3 0, 2017, JHG completed a merger of equaanesCuapital h JCG
Gr oup | n anditgcondotidéted)subsidiaries became subsidiaries of JHG.

Segment Considerations

JHG is a global sset manager and manages a range of investment products, operating across various product lines,
distribution channels and geographic regions. However, information is reported to the chief operating hagision

the Chief Execut i waggregatédibases. Strategicarddifiapcial mamagement decisions are
determined centrally by the CEO and, on this basis, the Group operates as a single segment investment management
business.

Revenue

Revenue primarily consists of management fees and peafare fees. Management fees are generally based on a
percentage of the mar ket value of assets under manageme
end or quarteend average asset balance in accordance with contractual agreementdinglgdluctuations in the

financi al mar kets have a direct effect on the Group’'s o
underperform the financial markets and therefore may fluctuate in varying degrees from that of the general market.

Peformance fees are specified in certain fund and client contracts and are based on investment performance either on an
absolute basis or compared to an established index over a specified period of time. This is often subject to a hurdle rate.
Performance fes are recognized at the end of the contractual period (typically monthly, quarterly or annually) if the

stated performance criteria are achieved. Certain fund and client contracts allow for negative performance fees where
there is underperformance agaitist relevant index.

SECOND QUARTER 2019 SUMMARY
Second QuarteR019Highlights

1 Longterm investment performance is strong wi2% and80% of AUM outperforming benchmarks on a
three and fiveyear basis, respectively, as of J&®2019.

1 AUM increasedo $359.8 billion, up 9.5% from the year ended December 31, 2018, due to positive markets,
partially offset by net outflows.

1 Second quarter 2019 diluted earnings gfere was $66, or $061 on anadjusted basis. Refer to the Non
GAAP Financial Measuresection for information on adjusted r@AAP figures.

1 OnJuly 3Q 2019,the Board declared a $0.36 per share dividend fasg¢hendquarter of 209.

1 During the quarter ended June 30, 2019, the Group acquired 3,507,049 shares of its common stagk for $75
million.

Financial Summary

Results are reported on a GAAP basis. Adjusted®AAP figures are presented in the NGMAP Financial Measures
section.
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Revenue for the second quarter of 2019 was $535.9 million, a decrease of $56.5 million, or (10%g &econd
quarter of 2018. The decrease was primarily driven by a decrease in management fees due to lower gross fee margins
and a decrease itverage AUM, during the secomgiarter of 2019¢ompared to the same period2id18

Total operating expensesrfthe second quarter of 2019 were $417.4 million, an increase of $0.3 million compared to
operating expenses in the second quarter of 2018. The increase was primarily driven by the impairment of certain mutual
fund investment management agreements olffiget decrease in distribution expenses due to lower average AUM

during the quarter ended June 3019, compared to the same period in the prior year.

Operating income for the second quarter of 2019 was $Mi8ién, a decrease of $56.8 million, or (32%pmpared to
the second quarter of 2018. The Group’'s operating margi
in the second quarter of 2018.

Net income attributable to JHG in the second quarter of 2019 was $109.4 million, a decré&is ofiion, or (22%),

compared to the same period in 2018, due to the factors impacting revenue and operating expense discussed above. In
addition, investment gains (losses), net increased $21.4 million from the second quarter pfi2@tiy due to &ir

val ue adjustments in relation to the Group’'s consolidat
awards recognized in the second quarter of 2019

The Group’s ordinary dividend in respaet of the second
Investment Performance of Assets Under Management

The following table is a summary of investment performance as of3ly2€19:

Percentage of assets under management outperforming benchmark 1 year 3years 5 years

Equities 73 % 74 % 83 %
Fixed Income 61 % 90 % 89 %
Quantitative Equities 32% 11% 39%
Multi-Asset 90 % 91% 92 %
Alternatives 39% 100% 100%
Total Group 66 % 72 % 80 %

Assets Under Management

The Group’'s AW219avas B5Y.8billlon, areincrease of¥l.3billion, or 9.5%, from
DecembeB1, 2018, driven primarily by positivenarket movements ofA8.9billion, partially offset by net redemptions
of $17.2billion.

JHG sUSiIbhnAUM is primarily denominated in Great British g
(“AUD"” ) . During the thredSmoda lhiBaxrengtleded adgainstahe GBP a@ddhe 9, t h
AUD, and weakened against the EUR, resulting in a $0.4 billion decrease to AUM. During the six months ended June

30, 2019, the USD strengthened against the GBP, the AUD and the EUR, resulting in a $1.7 billion tieAtdkke

As of June 30, 2019, appr oxi mb$Dedenpgmirtatedoresnlfingin @aret Gr oup’ s A
unfavorable currency effect, particularly in products exposed to GBP.

VelocityShares exchanger aded notes (“ ETNs"”) ermnntludedewithindAUM asiJHGdsenat pr o d u
the named adviser or subadviser to ETNs or index products. VelocityShares ETN assets totaled $2.6 billion and $2.2

billion as of June30,2019, anddecembeB1,2018 respectively. VelocityShares index product assetsncluded

within AUM totaled $2.5 billion and $1.7 billion as of JuB@, 2019, and>ecembe1, 2018 respectively.
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Asset and flows by capability for the three and six months ended30uR@19 and2018 are as follows (in billions):

By capability
Equities
Fixed Income
Quantitative
Equities
Multi-Asset
Alternatives

Total

By capability
Equities
Fixed Income
Quantitative
Equities
Multi-Asset
Alternatives

Total

By capability
Equities
Fixed Income
Quantitative
Equities
Multi-Asset
Alternatives

Total

Closing AUM Closing AUM
December 31, Net sales June 30,
2018 Sales Redemptions (redemptions) 2019
$ 1676 $ 138 $ (22.7'$ (8.9 $ 191.3
72.4 10.4 (12.9 (2.5) 73.5
44.3 0.9 (6.0) (5.1) 47.6
30.2 4.3 (3.0) 1.3 35.1
14.0 1.8 (3.8 (2.0} 12.3
$ 3285 $ 312 $ (484 % 7.2 359.8
Closing Closing
AUM AUM
March 31, Net sales June 30,
2019 Sales Redemptions @ (redemptions) 2019
$ 188.8 $ 69 $ (129 $ (6.0) $ 191.3
72.5 55 (5.2) 0.3 73.5
49.6 0.2 (4.3 4.1) 47.6
334 2.1 (1.5 0.6 35.1
13.0 0.9 (1.5 (0.6) 12.3
$ 3573 $ 156 $ (254 $ (9.8) $ 359.8
Closing AUM Closing AUM
December 31, Net sales June 30,
2017 Sales Redemptions ®  (redemptions) 2018
$ 189.7 $ 185 $ 211 $ (2.6) $ 193.3
80.1 10.2 (11.3 (1.1) 76.5
49.9 2.1 (2.6) (0.5) 50.1
31.6 3.1 (2.6) 0.5 32.6
19.5 2.9 (4.6) .7 17.6
$ 3708 $ 368 $ 422 $ (5.4) $ 370.1
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Closing Closing

AUM AUM
March 31, Net sales June 30,
2018 Sales Redemptions ©  (redemptions) Markets FX® 2018
By capability
Equities $ 190.7 $ 85 $ (9.6) $ 11) % 66 $ (29 ¢ 193.3
Fixed Income 80.0 5.0 (5.6) (0.6) (0.4) (2.5) 76.5
Quantitative
Equities 50.4 0.4 (1.2) (0.8) 0.7 (0.2 50.1
Multi-Asset 31.8 1.8 (1.3 0.5 0.9 (0.6) 32.6
Alternatives 19.0 1.4 (2.1) (0.7 0.2 (0.9) 17.6
Total $ 3719 $ 171 $ (19.8 $ 27 % 80 $ (71 $ 370.1

(1) Redemptions include the impact of client transfers, which could cause a positive balance on occasion.

(2) FX reflects movements AUM resulting from changes in foreign currency rates asWw8D denominated AUM is
translated into USD.

Closing Assets Under Management

The following table presents the closing AUM, split by client type and client location, as @Q®8L9 (in billions):

Closing AUM

By client type June 30, 2019
Intermediary $ 159.5
Institutional 134.2
Self-directed 66.1
Total $ 359.8

Closing AUM

By client location June 30, 2019
North America $ 195.7
EMEA & LatAm 108.3
Asia-Pacific 55.8
Total $ 359.8

Valuation of Assets Under Management

The fair value of AUM is based on the value of the underlying cash and investment securities of the funds, trusts and
segregated mandates. A significant proportiothe$e securities are listed or quoted on a recognized securities exchange
or market and are regularly traded thereon; these investments are valued based on unadjusted quoted market prices.
Investments including, but not limited to, over the counter dévivabntracts (which are dealt in or through a clearing
firm), exchanges or financial institutions will be valued by reference to the most recent official settlement price quoted
by the appointed market vendor, and in the event no price is availablehirosotirce, a broker quotation may be used.
Physical property held is valued monthly by a specialist independent appraiser.

When a readily ascertainable market value does not exist for an investment, the fair value is calculated using a variety of
methodobgies. These methodologieelude, but are not limited tthe expected cash flows of its underlying net asset

base, taking into account applicable discount rates and other factors; comparable securities or relevant indices; recent
financing rounds; revere multiples; or a combination thereof. Judgment is used to ascertain if a formerly active market
has become inactive and to determine fair values when markets have become inactive. The Fair Value Pricing
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Committee is responsible for determining or appnguhese unquoted prices, which are reported to those charged with

governance of the funds and trusts. For funds that invest in markets that are closed at their valuation point, an assessment

is made daily to determine whether a fair value pricing adjustme i s required to the fund’s
significant market movements in other correlated open markets, scheduled market closures or unscheduled market
closures as a result of natural disaster or government intervention.

Third-party admiistrators hold a key role in the collection and validation of prices used in the valuation of the
securities. Daily price validation is completed using techniques such aswhay tolerance movements, invariant
prices, excessive movement checks and-wrador tolerance checks. The JHG data management team performs
oversight of this process and completes annual due diligence on the processesaftibisd

In other cases, the s@dministrators and the Group perform a number of procedures to validgigcing received

from third-party providers. For actively traded equity and fixed income securities, prices are received daily from both a
primary and secondary vendor. Prices from the primary and secondary vendors are compared to identify any
discrepacies. In the event of a discrepancy, a price challenge may be issued to both vendors. Securities with significant
dayto-day price changes require additional research, which may include a review of all news pertaining to the issue and

issuer,and anycogpr at e actions. Al fixed income prices are revi
incorporate mar ket activity information available to JH

indications from market makers for a particular isghis information is transmitted to the pricing vendors.

JHG leverages the expertise of its fund management teams across the businesénestasssets and create value for
its clients. Where cross investment occurs, assets and flows are idemfidteaduplication is removed.

Results of Operations

Foreign currency translation impacts the Group’s Resul
primary driver of foreign currency translation in expenses.GBE weakened again$te USD during the three and six
months ended Jurg®, 2019, compared to the same perio@@18 Revenue is also impacted by foreign currency

translation, but the impact is generally determined by the primary currency of the fund.

Revenue
Three months ended Six months ended
June 30, June 30,
2019 2018 2019 2018
Revenue (in millions):
Management fees $ 4464 $ 4935 $ 8883 $ 9964
Performance fees 3.5 13.5 (2.1) 9.6
Shareowneservicing fees 38.3 38.7 74.2 77.1
Other revenue 47.7 46.7 94.8 97.0
Total revenue $ 5359 $ 5924 $ 10552 $ 1,180.1

Management fees

Management fees decreased by $47.1 million, or (10%), during the three months enci&j 2uib@, compared to the
same period in 2018. Lower gross fee margins and a decremserage AUM contributed $33.0 million and $14.1
million, respectively, during the quarter ended J8Bg2019, compared to the same period in the prior year.

Management fees decreased by $108.1 million, or (11%), during the six months end&@, 2008,compared to the
same period in 2018. Lower gross fee margins and a decrease in average AUM contributed $59.0 million and $49.1
million, respectively, during the six months ended 8019, compared to the same period in the prior year.
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Performance fes

Performance fees are derived across a number of product ranges. Pooled fund and segregated mandate performance fees
are recognized on a quarterly or annual basis, while mutual fund performance fees are recognized on a monthly basis.
Performance fees hroduct type consisted of the following for the three and six months ende8Q@@849 and 2018

(in millions):

Three months ended Six months ended
June 30, June 30,
2019 2018 2019 2018
Performance fees (in millions):
SICAVs $ 15 $ 42 % 15 $ 5.2
UK OEICs& Unit Trusts — 4.4 — 4.4
Offshore absolute return — 15 — 1.9
Segregated mandates 5.5 4.4 8.8 6.9
Investment Trusts — 6.7 — 6.7
Mutual funds (3.5) (7.7 (12.4 (15.5
Total performance fees $ 35 $ 135 $ 21 % 9.6

For the three months ended J@&@2019, performance fees decreased $10.0 million compared to the same period in
2018. The decrease for the three months ended3Dy2619, compared to therse period in 2018, was primarily due

to fewer annual performance fee crystallizations, which contributed $14.3 million to the decrease, partially offset by a
$4.3 million increase in mutual fund performance in relation to the benchmarks.

For the six monthended Jun80, 2019, performance fees decreased $11.7 million compared to the same period in 2018.
The decrease for the six months ended B2019, compared to the same period in 2018, was primarily due to $14.9
million of fewer annual performance fegystallizations, partially offset by a $3.2 million increase in mutual fund
performance in relation to the benchmarks.

Shareowner servicing fees

Shareowner servicing fees is primarily composed of U.S. mutual fund servicing fees. For the three anthsignded
June30, 2019, shareowner servicing fees decreased $0.4 million and $2.9 million, compared to the same periods in
2018, respectively, primarily due to a decrease in average AUM.

Other revenue

Other revenue increased by $1.0 million during theghmonths ended JuB6, 2019, compared to the same period in
2018. There were no significant items driving the increase in other revenue.

Other revenue decreased by $2.2 million during the six months ende8Q]@049, compared to the same period in
2018, primarily due to a decrease in average AUM.
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Operating Expenses

Three months ended Six months ended
June 30, June 30,
2019 2018 2019 2018
Operating expenses (in millions):
Employee compensation and benefits $ 1465 $ 1510 $ 2915 $ 2977
Long-term incentive plans 49.2 55.2 97.6 95.2
Distribution expenses 101.5 114.7 203.4 232.0
Investment administration 11.1 11.7 22.9 231
Marketing 8.1 9.5 15.6 18.0
General, administrative and occupancy 67.7 59.2 132.9 131.4
Depreciation and amortization 33.3 15.8 48.3 31.2
Total operating expenses $ 4174 $ 4171 $ 8122 $ 8286

Employee compensation and benefits

During the three months ended J&@2019, employee compensation and benefits decredsddlion compared to

the same period in 2018, primarily due to lower bonus pool accruafaam@ble foreign currency translation during

the second quarter of 2019, which contributed $5.0 million andr®i8n to the decrease, respectively. These

decreases were partially offset by an increase in fixed staff compensation due to annual increases in pay of $1.6 million.

During the six months ended Jus@, 2019, employee compensation and benefits decreaseth#iod compared to

the same period in0A8, primarily due tdavorable foreign currency translation doger bonus pool accruatkiring

the six months ended June 30, 2019, which contributed $7.3 million anchifito6 to the decrease, respectively. These
decreases were partially offset byiaorease in fixed staff compensation due to annual increases in pay and temporary
staffing charges of $3.2 million and $1.5 million, respectively.

Longterm incentive plans

Long-term incentive plans decreased by $@ilion duringthe three months endddne30,2019 compared to the

same period in 2018, primarily driven by a decrease of $6.4 million in new awards (net of the vesting of awards granted
in prior years) and favorable foreign currency translation of $1.6 millibese dereases were partigloffset by a $2.3

million fair value adjustment related to mutual fund awalating the three months ended J@0e2019.

Longterm incentive plans increased by $ghlion duringthe six months ended Ju@6,2019 compared to the same
period in 2018The increase was primarily due to a $6.6 milliair falue adjustment related to mutual fund awards,
partially offset by favorable foreign currency translation of $2.8 million during the six months ende2D,J20#9.

Distribution expenses

Distributone x penses are paid to financi al intermediaries for
typically calculated based on the amount of the intermedianyced AUM. Distribution expenses decreased $13.2

million duringthe three monthsngled Jun&0,2019,compared to the same period2®18. Lower average AUM and

favorable foreign currency translation contributed $7.7 million and $1.7 million to the decrease, respectively.

Distribution expenses decreased $28.6 million duttiegsixmonths ended Jur89, 2019,compared to the same period
in 2018. Lower average AUM and favorable foreign currency translation contributed $20.1 million and $4.0 million to
the decrease, respectively.

Investment administration

Investment administration expses, which represent baoKice operations (including fund administration and fund
accounting), decreased $0.6 million and $0.2 million during the three and six months end&@ 20048, compared to
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the same periods in 2018, respectively. There wemggmificant items driving the decrease in investment administration
expenses.

Marketing

During the three and six months ended J8e019, marketing expenses decreased by illibn and $2.4 million,
compared to the same periods in 2018, respectiVbly.decreases were primarily driven by a decrease in marketing
events and advertising during the three and six months ended June 30, 2019, compared to the same periods in 2018.

General, administrative and occupancy

General, administrative and occupangpenses increased by $8.5 million during the three months ende@Q2.9,
compared to the same period in 201Be increase was primarily due to $2.5 million in consulting and professional
costs, $2.1 million in rent expense and $0.7 million in madlaéd costs.

General, administrative and occupancy expenses increased by $1.5 million during the six months eldegQlithe
compared to the same period in 2018. There were no significant items driving the increase in general, administrative and
occupaicy expense.

Depreciation and amortization
Depreciation and amortization expenses increased by #iilfich and $17.1 million during the three and six months
ended Jun80,2019, compared to the same periods in 2018, respectively. The increase wafyptimanan $180

million impairment related to certain mutual fund investment management agreements recognized during the three
months ended June 30, 20#i@e to lower than expected growth.

Non-Operating Income and Expenses

Three months ended Six months ended
June 30, June 30,
2019 2018 2019 2018
Non-operating income and expenses (in millions):

Interest expense $ 4.2 $ 39 % 83 % (7.7,
Investment gains (losses), net 4.8 (16.6 18.1 (17.3
Other noroperating income (expenses), net 28.5 13.9 24.6 52.8
Income tax provision (35.3 (38.2 (65.2 (85.6

Investment gains (losses), net

The components of investment gains (losses)onghe three and six months ended J88g2019 and 2018, are as
follows (in millions):

Three months ended Six months ended
June 30, June 30,
2019 2018 2019 2018
Investment gains (losses), net (in millions):
Seeded investment products and derivatives, net $ 34 $ (174 $ 116 $ (182
Other 1.4 0.8 6.5 0.9
Investment gains (losses), net $ 48 $ (166 $ 181 $ (173

Investment gains (losses), net moved favorably by $21.4 million and $35.4 million durihgethend six months
ended Jun80, 2019 compared to the same period2018 respectively, primaly due to fair value adjustments in

relation to the Group’s consolidated VIEs, other seeded
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Other nonoperating income, net

Other noroperating income (expenses), net increased $14.6 million dinenpree moths ended Jun@0, 2019

compared to the same period2®18.The increase was primarily due to a $20.0 milkomtingent consideration
adjustment associated with Geneva due to an updated foaadeat$3.1 million increase in interest income during the
three months ended June 30, 2019, compared to the same period in 2018. These increases were partially offset by
unfavorable foreign currency translation of $6.5 million during the three monthd énde 30, 2019, compared to the
same period in 2018.

Other noroperating income (expenses), net decreased $28.2 million dbarggx months ended Jugé, 2019
compared to the same period?2®18.The decrease was partially driven by fair value adjesits related to the Daihi
options, which benefited other naperating income (expenses), net by $24.7 million during thenenth period ended
June 302018,compared to the same period2id19 A $22.3 million gain recognized during the first qua2618, on
the sal e of -dffiteeand@iddlenfiicé fanctiors m ke U.S., also contributed to the decrease. These
decreases were partially offset by a $20.0 miltontingent consideration adjustment discussed above.

Income tax provision

The Group’s effective tax r at e30,2016 and 20b8earetatfollenss: and si x
Three months ended Six months ended
June 30, June 30,
2019 2018 2019 2018
Effective tax rate 240% 226% 235% 22.6%

The increase in the effective tax rate for the three and six months end&®DJ20&9, compared to the same periods in
2018 was primarily due tan increase in nedeductible compensatienelated expenses

Non-GAAP Financial Measures
JHG reports itdinancial results in accordance with GAAP. However, JHG management evaluates the profitability of the

Group and its ongoing operations using additionat@é&®P financial measures. Management uses these performance
measures to evaluate the business, apdtd values are consistent with internal management reporting.
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Alternative performance measures

The following is a reconciliation of revenue, operating income, net income attributable to JHG and diluted earnings per
share to adjusted revenue, adjustedrafing income, adjusted net income attributable to JHG and adjusted diluted
earnings per share, respectively, for the thmemth periods ended June 30, 2019 and 2018 (in millions, except per share

and operating margin data):

Three months ended

Three months ended

June 30, June 30,
2019 2018
Reconciliation of revenue to adjusted revenue
Revenue $ 535.9 $ 592.4
Distribution expensés (101.5 (114.7
Adjusted revenue $ 4344 $ 477.7
Reconciliation of operating income to adjusted operating income
Operating income $ 1185 $ 175.3
Employee compensation and benéits 3.1 6.0
Longterm incentive plarid (0.2) 0.7
Investment administratiéh — 0.7
Marketind? — (0.2
General, administrative and occupaf&) 5.3 1.5
Depreciation and amortizati&h 25.3 7.4
Adjusted operating income $ 152.0 $ 191.4
Operating margif? 22.1% 29.6%
Adjusted operatingnargir® 35.0% 40.1%
Reconciliation of net income attributable to JHG to adjusted net income
attributable to JHG
Net income attributable to JHG $ 1094 $ 140.6
Employee compensation and benéfits 3.1 6.0
Long-termincentive plan$ (0.2) 0.7
Investment administratién — 0.7
Marketind® — (0.2
General, administrative and occupafy) 5.3 15
Depreciation and amortizatiGif®? 25.3 7.4
Interest expensd 1.0 0.7
Investment gain (losses), ffet 1.0 —
Other noroperating income (expenses), Het (22.6 (4.0
Income tax provisiof? (2.6) (3.5
Adjusted net income attributable to JHG 119.7 149.9
Less: allocation of earnings participating stoclased awards (3.5 4.1
Adjusted net income attributable to JHG common shareholders $ 116.2 $ 145.8
Weightedaverage common shares outstandiagliluted (two class) 190.7 196.6
Diluted earnings per share (twtass!” $ 0.56 $ 0.70
Adjusted diluted earnings per share (two cldss) $ 061 $ 0.74
(1) Substantially all/l di stribution expenses are paid to

products. JHG management beliettest the deduction of thirdarty distribution, service and advisory expenses
from revenue in the computation of net revenue reflects the nature of these expenses, as these costs are passed

through to external parties that perform functions on behalioffa di st r i but e,
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(2) Adjustments primarily represent integration costs in relation to the Merger, including severance costs, legal costs
and consulting fees. JHG management believes these costs do not represent the ongoing opthati®rmipf

(3) Investment management contracts have been identified as a separately identifiable intangible asset arising on the
acquisition of subsidiaries and businesses. Such contracts are recognized at the net present value of the expected
future cash fhws arising from the contracts at the date of acquisition. For segregated mandate contracts, the
intangible asset is amortized on a straigte basis over the expected life of the contracts. The three months ended
June 30, 201%lso includes an $18.0 liwn impairment of certain mutual fund contracts. JHG management
believes these netash and acquisitierelated costs do not represent the ongoing operations of the Group.

(4) Operating margin is operating income divided by revenue.
(5) Adjusted operating mangis adjusted operating income divided by adjusted revenue.

(6) Adjustments for the three months ended June 30, 2019, primarily represent contingent consideration adjustments
associated with acquisitions prior to the Merger and increased debt expertsmsscuence of the fair value uplift
on debt due to acquisition accounting. Adjustments for the three months ended June 30, 2018, primarily represent
fair value movements on options issued to-Bhi and contingent consideration costs associated withisitgos
prior to the Merger. JHG management believes these costs do not represent the ongoing operations of the Group.

(7) The tax impact of the adjustments is calculated based on the U.S. or foreign statutory tax rate as they relate to each
adjustment. Cealin adjustments are either not taxable or noteductible.

(8) Diluted earnings per share is net income attributable to JHG common shareholders divided by-\aeayhtg
diluted common shares outstanding.

(9) Adjusted diluted earnings per share is adjusttdncome attributable to JHG common shareholders divided by
weightedaverage diluted common shares outstanding.

Quarterly analysis

The following provides analysis of the Groupmenthadj usted
period exded Jun&0, 2019, as compared to adjusted revenue and adjusted operating expense fortinenthreeriod
ended Jun80, 2018 (in millions):

Three months ended Three months ended

June 30, 2019 June 30, 2018
Adjusted revenue $ 4344 $ a77.7
Adjusted operating expense $ 2824 $ 286.3

Adjusted revenue decreased by $43.3 million, or (9%), primarily daestty.1million decrease in management fees
driven by lower gross fee margiaada decrease iaverage AUM. Adjusted operating expenses decreased by $3.9
million, or (1%),primarily due to a $5.1 million decrease in letegm incentive plag) a $1.7 million decrease in
employee compensation and benefitsd a $1.6 million decreasenmarketingexpenses partially offset by a $4.9
million increase in general, administrative arm@tupancy expenses.
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The following is a reconciliation of revenue and operating expense to adjusted revenue and adjusted operating expense,

respectively, for the three montaeded June 30, 2019 and 2018 (in millions):

Reconciliation of revenue to adjusted revenue
Revenue

Distribution expensés
Adjusted revenue

Reconciliation of operating expense to adjusted operating expense

Operating expense
Employee compensation and benéfits
Long-term incentivepland?
Distribution expensés
Investment administratié®
Marketind?
General, administrative and occupafcy
Depreciation and amortizati&tt®
Adjusted operating expense

(1) Di stribution expenses

the computation of net revenue reflects the nature of these expenses, as these costs are passed through to external
and

are paid t
management believes that the deduction of thady distributionservice and advisory expenses from revenue in

parties that perform functions o

Three months ended Three months ended
June 30, 2018

June 30, 2019

$ 535.9 $ 592.4
(1015 (114.7

$ 4344 $ 4777
$ 4174 $ 417.1
(3.1) (6.0)

0.2 ©.7)

(101.5 (114.7

— ©.7)

— 0.2

(5.3) (1.5)

(25.3 (7.4)

$ 2824 $ 286.3

o financi

n behalf

al

of

nter medi

(2) Adjustments primarily represent deal and integration costs in relation to the Merger. The costs primarily represent
severance costs, legal costs and consulting fees. JHG management believes these costs do not represent the ongoing

operations of the Group.

(3) Invesment management contracts have been identified as a separately identifiable intangible asset arising on the
acquisition of subsidiaries and businesses. Such contracts are recognized at the net present value of the expected

future cash flows arising froméhcontracts at the date of acquisition. For segregated mandate contracts, the

intangible asset is amortized on a straigte basis over the expected life of the contracts. The three months ended
June 30, 201%lso includes an $18.0 million impairmentagfrtain mutual fund contracts. JHG management
believes these necash and acquisitierelated costs do not represent the ongoing operations of the Group.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

JHG' s capital structure,

t o dlews dereratediiorn dperationa, and futbhereapitala s h
and credit market activities, if necessary, should provide the Group with sufficient resources to meet present and future
cash needs, including operating and other obligations as they fall due angbsedi¢uture capital requirements.

The following table summarizes key

June30,2019, and Decemb&d,2018 (in millions):

Cash and cash equivalents held by the Group
Investment securities held by the Group

Fees and other receivables

Debt
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June 30, December 31,
2019 2018

$ 7069 $ 879.0

$ 2375 % 277.9

$ 2858 $ 309.2

$ 3177 $ 319.1

dat a

b

r

[
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Cash and cash equivalents consist primarily of cabharats and in money market funds. Cash and cash equivalents and
investment securities held by consolidated VIEs and VRESs are not available for general corporate purposes and have
been excluded from the table above.

Investment securities held by the Groupresents seeded investment products (exclusive of investments held by
consolidated VIEs and VRES), investments related to deferred compensation plans and other less significant
investments.

The Group believes that existing cash and cash from operatioulsl §feosufficient to satisfy its sheteérm capital
requirements. Expected shaoerm uses of cash include ordinary operating expenditures, seed capital investments,
interest expense, dividend payments, income tax payments, contingent considerationgyaytagretion costs in

relation to the Merger and common stock repurchases. JHG may also use available cash for other general corporate
purposes and acquisitions.

Regulatory Capital

JHG is subject to regulatory oversight by the SEC, the
he

Commodity Futures Trading Commi ssion, t Financi al Con
bodies. The Group ensuresits compl i ant with its regulatory obligati on:
requirement relates to the F&Ipervised regulatory group (a sgioup of JHG), comprising Henderson Group

Holdings Asset Management Limited, all of its subsidiarieslamdn us Capi t al I nternational Li

included to meet the requirements of certain regulations under the Banking Consolidation Directive. The combined
capital requirement i6279.5 million ($355.7 million), resulting in capital above thg tel at o rsyegutatorg u p ’
requirement of £193.9 million ($246r8illion) as ofJune 30, 2019, based on internal calculations and excluding
unaudited current year profits. Capital requirements in other jurisdictions are not significant.

Short-Term Liquidity and Capital Resources
Common Stock Repurchases

On February 4, 2019, the Board approved JHG commencing a nevaret share buyback program in 2019. The

Group intends to spend up to $200 million to buy its ordinary shares on the New York Stobkd&x ge ( “ NYSE”" ) a
CHESS depository interests (“CDls”) on the Australian S
is expected to be completed within 12 months of the commencement date. On March 5, 2019, JHG commenced the new
onrmarket share buyback program. The Group purchased 3,507,049 shares of common stock for $75.2 million in the

second quarter of 2019.

Some of the Group’'s executives and employees receive ri
arrangemets and employee entitlements. These entitlements may be satisfied either by the transfer of existing ordinary
shares acquired on market or by the issue of ordinary shares. The Group purchased 16,553 shares at an average price of
$22.09in satisfaction of mployee awards and entitlements during the three months ende80]@049.

Dividends
The payment of cash dividends is within the discretion
including, but not | dfopératiens finencial conditien, c&itabraquirersents, gexardl t s

business conditions and legal requirements.

Dividends declared and paid during the six months ended3M2€19, were as follows:

Dividend Dividends paid

per share Date declared (in millions) Date paid
$0.36 February 4, 2019 $ 69.7 February 26, 2019
$0.36 May 1, 2019 $ 68.6 May 29, 2019
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On July 30, 2019, JHG' s Boar d $@3bpesharecThd qoarterly divelend veilkbe d a ¢
paid on August 28, 2019, to shareholders of record at the close of business on August 12, 2019.

Long-Term Liquidity and Capital Resources

Expected longerm commitments as of Ju38, 2019, include principal anaterest payments related to the 2025 Senior
Notes, operating and finance lease payments, Intech senior profits interests eealdsgppreciation rights and
phantom interest$ntech noncontrolling interests, and contingent consideration related dodhesitions of Geneva,
Perennial and Kapstream. JHG expects to fund itstermg commitments with existing cash, with cash generated from
operations or by accessing capital and credit markets as necessary.

2025 Senior Notes

The 2025 Senior Notes have @ngipal amount of $300.0 million, pay interest at 4.875% semiannually on Feldruary
and Augustl of each year, and mature on Augls2025.

Intech

Intech ownership interests held by a founding member, representing approximately 1.1% aggregate owwheesttip o
provide this founding member with an entitlement to retain his remaining Intech interest until his death and provide the
option to require JHG to purchase the ownership interests of Intech at fair value.

Intech has granted lortgrm incentive awals to retain and incentivize employees. The awards consist of appreciation

rights, profits interests and phantom interests, and are designed to give recipients dikedtdtlge in Intech. The

grant date fair value of the appreciation rights is bengréized on a graded basis over theyg@r vesting period. The

awards are exercisable upon termination of employment from Intech to the extent vested. The profits interests and
phantom interests awar ds e n tiricantiveprofitseci pi ents to 9. 04% of

Contingent Consideration

The maximum amount payable and fair value of Geneva, Perennial and Kapstream contingent consideration are
summarized below (in millions):

As of June 30, 2019

Geneva Perennial Kapstream

Maximum amount payable $ 613 $ 158 $ 1338
Fair value included in:

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ — $ 120 $ 132

Other norcurrent liabilities 6.6 — —

Total fair value $ 66 $ 120 $ 13.2

As of December 31, 2018

Geneva Perennial Kapstream

Maximum amount payable $ 613 $ 422 $ 275
Fair value included in:

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ — 8 — $ 138

Other norcurrent liabilities 25.3 9.9 12.3

Total fair value $ 253 % 99 $ 261
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Refer to Item 1, Note 4- Fair Value Measurements for a detailed discussion of contingent consideration.
Defined Benefit Pension Plan

The Group’s | at eofitsdefinedibenefinpersion phararésuitadtin asurplus of ShRion
($15.3million).

The Group believes that it will have sufficient resources to satisfy itstemgliquidity requirements.
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

Other than certain leasgreements, JHG is not party to anylodlance sheet arrangements that may provide, or require
the Group to provide, financing, l'iquidity, mar ket or
financial statements.

Other Sources of Liqidity

At June30,2019, JHG hada$20@i | | i on unsecured, revolving credit faci
Merrill Lynch International Limited as coordinator, book runner and mandated lead arranger. The Credit Facility

includes an optiofor JHG to request an increase to the overall amount of the Credit Facility of up to an additional
$50.0million. The maturity date of the Credit Facility is February 16, 2024.

The Credit Facility may be used for general corporate purposes. The Crélitif Baars interest on borrowings
outstanding at the relevant interbank offer rate plus a spread.

The Credit Facility contains a financial covenant with respect to leverage. The financing leverage ratio cannot exceed
3.00x EBITDA. At the latest practicabbate before the date of this report, JHG was in compliance with all covenants
and there were no borrowings under the Credit Facility.

Cash Flows
A summary of cash flow data for the six months ended 30n2019 and 2018, is as follows (in millions):

Six months ended

June 30,
2019 2018
Cash flows provided by (used for):

Operating activities $ 830 $ 180.9
Investing activities 11.5 56.0
Financing activities (275.5 (306.6
Effect of exchangeate changes on cash and cash equivalents (4.6) (20.7

Net change in cash and cash equivalents (185.6 (90.4
Cash balance at beginning of year 916.6 794.2
Cash balance at end of year $ 7310 % 703.8

Operating Activities

Fluctuations in operating cash flows are attributable to changes in net income and working capital items, which can vary
from period to period based on the amount and timing of cash receipts and payments.
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Investing Activities
Cash provided by investiragtivities for the six months ended JiB®% 2019 and 2018, is as follows (in millions):

Six months ended

June 30,
2019 2018
Purchases and sales of investment securities, net $ 575 $ 43.9
Purchases and sales of securiiggonsolidated investment products, net (22.2 (16.7
Property, equipment and software (14.8 (11.3
Proceeds from BNP Paribas transaction, net — 36.5
Cash received (paid) on settled hedges, net (10.7 3.6
Other 1.7 —
Cash provided by investing activities $ 115 $ 56.0

Cash inflows from investing activities were $1inflion and $56.0 million during the six months ended J8@£2019

and 2018, respectively. Cash provided by investing activities during tineosiths ended Jurg®, 2019, was primarily

due to net sales of investment securities partially offset by purchases of equipment and software and net cash paid on
settled hedges.

Financing Activities
Cash used for financing activities for the six monthseen#line80,2019 and2018§ is as follows (in millions):

Six months ended

June 30,
2019 2018

Dividends paid to shareholders $ (1383 $ (1347
Repayment of longerm debt — (81.9
Third-party sales (redemption) consolidated seeded investment products, net 22.2 16.7
Purchase of common stock for stdatised compensation plans (38.1 (84.1
Purchase of common stock as part of share buyback program (106.1 —
Payment of contingemonsideration (14.1 (18.8
Other (1.2) (3.8)

Cash used for financing activities $ (2755 $ (306.6

Cash outflows from financing activities were $278ilion and $306.6 million during the six months ended

June30, 2019 and 201&gespectively. Cash outflows during the six months ended 39019, were primarily due to
dividends paid to shareholders and to the purchase of common stock febasaeckcompensation awards and for the
share buyback program.

Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

The Group has had no materi al changes in its exposures
Annual Report on ForriO-K for the year ended Decembi&t, 2018.

Item 4. Controls and Procedures

As ofJune30,2019 JHG' s management evaluated the effectiveness
controls and procedures (as such term is defined in RBe$5(e)and 15d15(e)under theExchange Act). Disclosure

controls and pycedures include, without limitation, controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required
to be disclosed by the Group in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is accumulated and
communi cated t o t hiacludngdasyppncigl ereautiva gnd pniecipal financial officers, or persons
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performing similar functions, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. Disclosure controls
and procedures are designed by the Group to ensairi thcords, processes, summarizes and reports in a timely
manner the information it must disclose in reports that it files with or submits to the SEC. Richard M. Weil, Chief

Executive Officer, and Rogdthompson, Chief Financial Officer, reviewed andgai ci pat ed i n manageme
of the disclosure controls and procedures. Based on this evaluatioVdiliand Mr.Thompson concluded that as of

the date of their evalwuation, JHG' s disclosure control s
Therehasheemo change in JHG's internal control oviBx financi a
15(f) and 15d15(f) under tle Exchange Act) during the secamaiarter of 201%hat has materially affected, or is

reasonably likely to materially affect, JHG i nt er nall contr ol over financi al rep

PART Il — OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1. Legal Proceedings

See Part, Item 1. Financial Statements, Note 45Commitments and Contingencies.
Item 1A. Risk Factors

The Group has had no material changesinstkri f act ors from those previously rep
on Form10-K for the year ended Decembigt, 2018

Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds
Common Stock Purchases

On February 4, 2019, the Board approvéts commencing a new anarket share buyback program in 2019. The

Group intends to spend up to $200 million to buy its ordinary shares on the NYSE and its CDls on the ASX for its share
buyback program that is expected to be completed within 12 months odthmencement date. On March 5, 2019,

JHG commenced theewon-market share buyback program. The Group purchased 3,507,049 shares of common stock
for $75.2 million in the second quarter of 2019.

During the second quarter of 2019, JHG purchased 16,553sstiamarketfor the annual share grants associated with
the 2018 variable compensation, which is not connected with the above Board approval.

Some of the Group’s executives and empl oyees riencei ve ri
arrangements and employee entitlements. These entitlements may be satisfied either by the transfer of existing ordinary
shares acquired emarket or by the issue of ordinary shares.

The following table presents JHG ordinary shares purchasethdcet ty month during the six months ended
June30, 2019, in connection with the share buyback program and in satisfaction of employee awards and entitlements.

Total Total number of shares Approximate U.S. dollar value
number of Average purchased as part of of shares that may yet
shares price paid per ~ publicly announced be purchased under the
Period purchased share programs programs (end of month, in millions)
January 30,777 $ 22.39 — —
February 1,531,114 23.40 — $ 200
March 1,269,514 24.53 1,258,443 $169
April 11,898 22.49 — $ 169
May 1,736,73< 21.73 1,734,182 $131
June 1,774,971 21.21 1,772,86€ $94
Total 6,355,007 $ 22.55 4,765,492
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Items 3, 4 and 5.

Not applicable.

Item 6.

151

15.2

31.1

31.2

32.1

32.2

101.INS

101.SCH

101.CAL

101.DEF

101.LAB

101.PRE

Exhibits

Letter regarding unaudited interim financial information is attached to this Quarterly Report on Fo
Q as Exhibit 15.1

Letter regardinginaudited interim financial information is attached to this Quarterly Report on Ferr
Q as Exhibit 15.2

Certification of Richard M. Weil, Chief Executive Officer of Registrant
Certification of Roger Thompson, Chief Financial OffioéiRegistrant

Certification of Richard M. Weil, Chief Executive Officer of Registrant, pursuant to 18 U.S.C.
Section1350, as adopted pursuant to Sec06 of the Sarbanedxley Act of 2002

Certification of Roger Thompson, Chieinancial Officer of Registrant, pursuant to 18 U.S.C.
Section1350, as adopted pursuant to Sec06 of the Sarbanedxley Act of 2002

XBRL Instance Documentthe instance document does not appear in the Interactive Data File bec
its XBRL tags are embedded within the Inline XBRL document.

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document
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Regulation S-K

Exhibit Item 601(b)
No. Document Exhibit No.
15.1 Letter regarding unaudited interim financial information is attached to this Quarterly 15
Report on Form 1@ as Exhibit 15.1
15.2 Letter regarding unaudited interim financial information is attached to this Quarterly 15
Report on Form 1@ as Exhibit 15.2
31.1 Certification of Richard M. Weil, Chief Executive Officer of Registrant 31
31.2 Certification of Roger Thompson, Chief Financial Officer of Registrant 31
32.1 Certification of Richard M. Weil, Chief Executive Officer of Registrant, pursuant to : 32
U.S.C. Sectiori350, as adopted pursuant to Secf06 of the Sarbaneédxley Act of
2002
32.2 Certification of Roger Thompson, Chief Financial Officer of Registrant, pursuant to 32
U.S.C. Sectiod 350, as adopted pursuant3ection906 of the Sarbanegdxley Act of
2002
101.INS XBRL Instance Documentthe instance document does not appear in the Interactive 101
File because its XBRL tags are embedded within the Inline XBRL document.
101.SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document 101
101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document 101
101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document 101
101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document 101
101.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document 101
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigriedreunto duly authorized.

Date:July 31 2019

Janus Henderson Group plc

/s/ Richard M. Weil
Richard M. Weill,
Director and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

/sl Roger Thompson
Roger Thompson,
Chief FinancialOfficer
(Principal Financial Officer)

/sl Brennan A. Hughes
Brennan A. Hughes,
Senior Vice President,
Chief Accounting Officer and Treasurer
(Principal Accounting Officer)
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